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The 2024-25 year has been one of progress and achievement for 
King’s, our income grew by more than eight per cent to £1.377 billion, 
resulting in a surplus before other gains and losses of £39.8 million –  
a significant improvement on the previous year. 

Our financial position allows us to invest confidently in the  
priorities that define King’s: excellent education, world-leading 
research, service to society and support for our people. 

Across the university we have worked to 
strengthen the quality and consistency of the 
experience we offer to our students and staff  
and we are starting to see the results of this.  
In the latest National Student Survey, King’s 
improved across every measure, with overall 
satisfaction rising by four percentage points,  
twice the national average increase. This reflects 
the collective effort of colleagues to act on 
feedback and enhance how we teach, support  
and connect with our students. 

Our researchers continue to demonstrate 
excellence and ambition. The £35 million 
EMBRACE donation – the largest philanthropic 
gift in our history – is a pioneering global 
maternal and child health partnership across 
biomedical science and artificial intelligence. 
King’s researchers have also secured European 
Research Council Advanced Grants, a Medical 
Research Council (MRC) programme to 
advance understanding of childhood allergies, 
and Wellcome Accelerator Awards supporting 
emerging research leaders. These are just a few 
examples of the outstanding work taking place 
across our disciplines. 

We have also invested in the environments that 
enable the University to flourish. Construction 
has begun on the Bush House South West Wing, 
which will create new spaces for learning and 
collaboration, while major investment at Guy’s 
Campus has enhanced the quality of student 
facilities. Across all our sites, improvements to 
study areas, laboratories and staff workspaces  
are helping to create better conditions for 
teaching, research and collaboration. 

Looking ahead, our new university strategy –  
to be launched in January 2026 – has been 
informed by extensive engagement across 
the King’s community. All staff have had the 
opportunity to contribute, and thousands have 
taken part in an eight-month consultation process 
that has helped shape a shared vision to 2030. 

We recognise that the higher education 
sector continues to operate in a volatile  
external environment. Yet we face these 
challenges from a position of strength: with  
a clear strategic direction, prudent financial 
management and a community whose talent, 
values and determination continue to define 
King’s as one of the country’s and indeed the 
world’s pre-eminent universities.

Professor Shitij Kapur MBBS PhD FMedSci(UK) 

Vice-Chancellor & President
Lord Stevens of Birmingham Kt.. 
Chair of Council

Foreword from the Vice-Chancellor & President  
and the Chair of Council 

Income grew by more than 
eight per cent to £1.377 
billion, resulting in a surplus 
before other gains and 
losses of £39.8 million –  
a significant improvement 
on the previous year

In the latest National 
Student Survey, King’s 
improved across every 
measure, with overall 
satisfaction rising by four 
percentage points, twice 
the national average 
increase.

The £35 million EMBRACE 
donation – the largest 
philanthropic gift in our 
history – is a pioneering 
global maternal and child 
health partnership across 
biomedical science and 
artificial intelligence.

Construction has begun 
on the Bush House South 
West Wing, which will 
create new spaces for 
learning and collaboration, 
while major investment 
at Guy’s Campus has 
enhanced the quality of 
student facilities. 
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Investment Subcommittee
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Professor Paul Mizen Since 25 February 2025
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Estates Committee

Member Period of office

Jon Zehner Chair since 1 August 2024

Professor Shitij Kapur MBBS PhD FMedSci(UK) Ex officio from 1 June 2021 to 31 March 2025

Malcolm Ace Ex officio since 1 June 2023

Amelia Bright Since 9 October 2025

Stephen Clifton From 1 August 2019 to 31 July 2025

Jeremy Cook OBE Ex officio, since 1 April 2025

Michael Creamer From 1 August 2019 to 31 July 2025
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Nick O’Donnell Ex officio, from 1 August 2017 to 31 March 2025

Sanjeev Sharma Since 1 August 2020

Sophie Simmonds Since 9 October 2025

Council and Council committee membership
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Fellowships & Honorary Degrees Committee

Member Period of office

The Rt Hon the Lord Geidt GCB GCVO OBE QSO FKC Chair from 1 August 2016 to 31 December 2024

Lord Simon Stevens. Chair since 1 January 2025

Professor Shitij Kapur MBBS PhD FMedSci(UK) Vice-Chancellor & President since 1 June 2021

Tom Berry Since 9 October 2025
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Catherine McGuinness Since 1 August 2022

Professor Linda McKie Since 1 August 2022

Rt Rev’d Dr Mark Oakley Since 1 August 2022

Professor Richard Trembath Since 1 August 2019

Staff & Culture Strategy Committee (now People Committee)

Member Period of office

Nhuoc Lan Tu Ex officio member & Chair from 1 January 2023 to 31 July 2024  
and from 1 January to 31st July 2025

Lisa Adams Ex officio since 1 December 2024

Donna Catley Member since 1 January 2023 & Chair from 1 August 2024 to 31 December 2024

Rev’d Dr Ellen Clark-King Ex officio since 1 January 2023

Sabrina Fernandez From 1 January 2023 to 31 July 2025

Dale Haddon From 1 January 2023 to 31 July 2025

Rachel Howarth Ex officio member & Chair from 9 October 2025

Lorraine Kelly Ex officio from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2025

Maria Kokkinou From 1 January 2023 to 31 July 2025

Julia Kosowska From 18 November 2024 to 31 July 2025

Stuart MacDonald From 1 January 2023 to 31 July 2025

Fiona Roberts Ex officio from 1 January 2024 to 30 November 2024

Dr Sasha Scambler Since 1 January 2023

Council and Council committee membership
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Key facts

Total income

 2024-25

£1,376.6m

 2023-24

£1,269.7m

External borrowings as  
a % of total income

 2024-25

28.8%

 2023-24

31.7%

Surplus before other gains 
and losses excluding movement 

on the pension provision

 2024-25

£39.8

 2023-24

(£3.2)m

Research: new and renewed 
awards (forward order book)

 2024-25

£298.7m

 2023-24

£292.6m

QS World University Rankings

 2024-25

31st

 2023-24

40

Net liquidity days  
(before movement in USS  

pension provision)

 2024-25

93 days

 2023-24

97 days

Donations and  
endowments

 2024-25

£17.1m

 2023-24

£23.7m

Staff numbers,  
full-time equivalent

 2024-25

9,716

 2023-24

9,202

Long-term issuer credit rating

 2024-25

AA-

 2023-24

AA-

Student numbers,  
full-time equivalent*

 2024-25

35,148

 2023-24

34,043

Times Higher Education  
World University Rankings

 2024-25

36th

 2023-24

38th
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  	 2024-25 	 2023-24

Tuition fees and education contracts 711.7 630.5

Funding body grants 156.7 144.9

Research grants and contracts 260.5 256.9

Other income 208.4 186.9

Investment income 22.2 26.8

Donations and endowments 17.1 23.7

Total income 1,376.6 1,269.7

Staff costs (800.7) (740.3)

Other operating expenses (451.5) (449.0)

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation & Pension movement 124.4 80.4

Interest and other finance costs (14.9) (23.0)

Staff costs – movement on USS pension provision - 329.9

Depreciation (69.7) (60.6)

Surplus/(deficit) before other gains/ losses 39.8 326.7

Other gains and losses 17.5 26.3

Taxation 0.1 0.0

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 57.4 353.0

Unrealised loss on revaluation of tangible assets 7.3 2.3

Change in fair value of hedging instrument 6.0 (7.1)

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 70.7 348.2

Financial Review

Financial performance
The financial statements show a strong financial position, 
with income increasing from the previous year by £107m 
to £1.377 billion (+8.4%) and expenditure – excluding the 
movement in the USS deficit provision – increasing by  
£64m to £1.337 billion (+4.9%). This leads to a Surplus 
before other gains or losses of £39.8m, compared with  
a very small deficit of £3.2m in 2023-24. The Total 
Comprehensive Income for 2024-25 was £70.7m,  
compared with £18.3m in 2023-24.

The Surplus before other gains and losses of £39.8m 
compares with a predicted surplus of £23.6m included  
in our Annual Finance Return (AFR) to the Office for 
Students submitted in December 2024. 

The balance sheet shows cash and short-term cash 
investments at £321m (2023-24 £323m) after capitalised 
expenditure in year of £113m (2023-24 £101m). The  
balance sheet cash and short-term investment figure  
is an improvement on the forecast submitted to Office  
for Students of £315m. 

Analysis of Income
After relatively subdued income growth in 2023-24 of 3.3%, 
there was strong income growth, in line with expectations in 
our AFR, of 8.4% in 2024-25. 

51.751.7+1.71.7+11.311.3+18.918.9+15.115.1++1.31.3+zzINVESTMENT INCOME� £22.2M

DONATIONS AND ENDOWMENTS� £17.1M

TUITION FEES AND EDUCATION CONTRACTS� £711.7M

FUNDING BODY GRANTS� £156.7M

OTHER INCOME� £208.4M

RESEARCH GRANTS AND CONTRACTS� £260.5M

INCOME 2024-25 £M

5050+2.12.1+11.611.6+1919+1515++1.91.9+zzINVESTMENT INCOME� £26.8M

DONATIONS AND ENDOWMENTS� £23.7M

TUITION FEES AND EDUCATION CONTRACTS� £630.5M

FUNDING BODY GRANTS� £144.9M

OTHER INCOME� £186.9M

RESEARCH GRANTS AND CONTRACTS� £256.9M

INCOME 2023-24 £M

Operating and financial review  
for the year ended 31 July 2025
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The most important factor in the growth of £107m was 
an increase in tuition fee income of £81m, of which £67m 
related to international student tuition fees. International 
student tuition fees now constitute 30% of our total income, 
and we would expect tuition fees to be the major engine of 
growth in the short to medium term, and for the proportion 
of income relating to international student tuition fees to 
grow. The financial year 2025-26 will see the first increase in 
the home undergraduate tuition fee cap for almost a decade, 
but even this welcome increase is likely to add only £4m 
to our income. We remain committed to providing the best 
opportunities for home and international students, and our 
plans commit to increases in home student numbers as well 
as international students.

Research income increased by £3.6m to £260m (+1.4%), 
with a very substantial increase of £9m (+12.5%) in funding 
from Research Councils (RCUK), which is now by some 
distance the largest funding source for research grants. Our 
new grants awarded during the year totalled £299m (+2% 
on 2023-24). It is encouraging that Research income and 
awards are still growing in cash terms, although it should 
be noted that the growth was below the level of inflation 
for 2024-25. As part of our King’s Strategy 2030, we are 
targeting real terms growth in research income so that on  
a subject basis we at least match the Russell Group average.

Investment income on cash balances decreased by £4m on 
2023-24, as market interest rates generally declined over 
the year. Our average rate of return in the year was 4.89% 
compared with the average Bank of England rate of 4.64% 
for the year.

New donations of £17m were recognised under our 
accounting policies. The £35m donation for the EMBRACE 
maternal health study will be accounted for as a research 
grant, matching the income with research expenditure 
over the next five years, this being the duration of the gift. 
The balance sheet shows the value of King’s Endowment 
increased to £341m, compared with £325m in 2023-24.

Analysis of Expenditure
In considering our expenditure, the distorting effect of 
movements in the USS deficit provision is excluded.

In 2023-24, we were concerned by the growth in 
expenditure, even in a year of low income growth, with an 
overall increase of 8.8% compared with 2022-23. In 2024-25, 
expenditure growth was better controlled, and the increase 
was £63m (+4.9%) compared with 2023-24. The total 
expenditure was £12m lower than forecast in the AFR,  
but this is still within 1% of the forecast.

 
6060++3434++55++11++zz

INTERSEST & OTHER FINANCE COSTS� £14.9M

STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING� £800.7M 
MOVEMENT ON PENSION PROVISION

DEPRECIATION & AMORTISATION� £69.7M

OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE� £451.5M

2024-25 EXPENDITURE EXCLUDING MOVEMENT ON PENSION PROVISION £M

 
5858++35.335.3++4.94.9++1.81.8++zz

INTERSEST & OTHER FINANCE COSTS� £23.0M

STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING� £740.3M 
MOVEMENT ON PENSION PROVISION

DEPRECIATION & AMORTISATION� £60.6M

OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE� £449.0M

2023-24 EXPENDITURE EXCLUDING MOVEMENT ON PENSION PROVISION £M

Salary costs increased from £740m to £801m (+8.2%). 
There were a number of factors in this, and the final figure 
was within 1% of expectations. Staff numbers increased 
by 514 full time equivalents (fte) (+5.6%). Of this increase, 
150 fte were transferred under TUPE at the conclusion of 
a long standing PFI facilities management contract. This 
direct employment of staff shifted £5m out of non-staff 
expenditure into our salary costs. The national wage award 
increased salaries by approximately 2.5%, and from April 
2025, Employers’ national insurance rates increased, adding 
approximately £1m a month to our costs. Salary costs 
represented 58.2% of income, a very marginal decrease  
on 2023-24.

Operating and financial review for the year ended 31 July 2025
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Other operating costs showed very small increase of £2m 
on 2023-24 (+0.6%). This was the consequence of strong 
financial controls, good progress against our procurement 
savings target, and as described above the movement of  
the PFI contract costs to salary costs.

The depreciation charge increased as forecast to £70m  
as the annual impact of our recent capital expenditures  
are recognised. 

Interest and other finance costs reduced by £8m, almost 
entirely due to the accounting effect of not imputing interest 
to the USS deficit provision. The costs of the great majority 
of our borrowing are fixed.

 
4545++88++66++33+10+10++66+15+2+5+15+2+5++zzACADEMIC DEPARTMENTS & SERVICES� 45%

STAFF & STUDENT FACILITIES� 3%

PREMISES� 10%

RESIDENCE & CATERING OPERATIONS� 7%

RESEARCH GRANTS & CONTRACTS� 14%

INTEREST & OTHER FINANCE COSTS� 1%

DEPRECIATION� 5%

ADMINISTRATION & SUPPORT SERVICES� 9%

GENERAL EDUCATION EXPENDITURE� 6%

HOW KING’S RESOURCES HAVE BEEN SPENT £M

Analysis of Balance Sheet, Capital Spending,  
Cash and Borrowings
The strong financial performance in 2024-25 meant  
that Net Assets and Total Reserves increased by £71m  
to £1.739 billion. 

Capital spending in the year totalled £113m. A very 
significant project to relocate staff and teaching activity  
from the Virginia Woolf Building was completed in 
September 2025 at the end of our lease for the building.  
We have modified and enhanced parts of our existing 
estate to permit the relocation, which means that the 
whole capacity of the development of Bush House South 
West Wing is available for student and staff growth and 
the enhancement of student facilities. Over the year there 
was considerable development of the planning of the 
construction work within Bush House South West Wing 
(following the freehold purchase of the property in 2021-
22). In July 2025, Council approved the business case for 
the development and agreed to contract with the main 
contractor Kier Group Plc. The contract was signed in 
August 2025. The construction will be completed so that  
the King’s community will enjoy the full benefit of Bush 
House South West Wing from the start of 2027-28.

As reported above, investment returns on our endowments 
enabled an increase in the value of the endowment of 
£16m to £341m. The average return on invested funds was 
6.5% (2023-24 9.4%). The return on funds has suffered in 
recent years against benchmarks as the Endowment Fund 
has not mirrored the market concentration of funds in US 
mega-capitalised stocks. The Investment Sub-Committee 
of Council reviews investment policy and performance on 
behalf of Council and reports to the Finance Committee.

The total of cash and short-term cash investments was 
£321m compared with £323m in 2023-24. This was 
marginally better than the forecast in the AFR. Our debt 
fell from £402m to £397m, so our net debt (outstanding debt 
minus cash and cash investments) reduced from £79m (6.6% 
of income) to £76m (5.5% of income). Finance Committee 
monitors our cash and net debt levels in the context of 
the Integrated Planning Process each year, as well as the 
projections within the AFR.

Our cash and short-term investments balance at year end 
of £321m represented 85 days of our total income. We have 
projected that the cash balance will reduce in the coming 
years, because of the major capital expenditure associated 
with Bush House South West Wing. In the coming two 
years, approximately £150m will be spent on this project,  
and we would look to fund this expenditure from our cash 
rather than new borrowing.

King’s borrowing is well structured, with low fixed interest 
rates and periodic bullet repayments of capital. The first 
bullet repayment will be £60m in April 2031. An interest  
rate swap agreement is in place for the £60m unsecured  
loan repayable in May 2048. 

Finance Committee and Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee review our bank and borrowing covenants  
at least annually against the actual financial performance. 
King’s remains comfortably compliant with the covenant 
conditions. 

Movements in the Universities Superannuation Scheme 
(USS) deficit contribution provision have significantly 
distorted the headline financial performance over the  
past decade. The 2023 USS valuation indicated a  
reasonable surplus in the scheme and the entirety of the 
deficit contribution provision was released in 2023-24. 
The next valuation is due in March 2026, and the fund 
performance and current market conditions indicate that 
there will again be a surplus on this valuation. As such,  
no provision is made against future deficit contributions  
in these financial statements.

Operating and financial review for the year ended 31 July 2025
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Surplus/(Deficit) Before Any Other Gains and Losses
The Surplus Before Any Other Gains and Losses is £39.8m, 
a significant improvement from 2023-24, when a small  
deficit of £3.2m would have been shown after extracting 
the effect of the release of the USS provision. The surplus 
represents 2.9% of income, an improvement on the 
budgeted surplus of 1.7% of income. While this is a good 
financial result, a product of both strong income growth and 
appropriate cost control, our medium-term target is to move 
to earning a consistent surplus of at least 4% of income.

Budgeting and Planning
The main focus of our budgeting and planning has been 
our three year Integrated Planning Process, which sets 
the detailed budgets for the coming year and the financial 
framework for the following two years. In the past year, the 
development of the King’s Strategy 2030 has encouraged  
a longer-term period for financial planning. The Strategy 
will contain a financial baseline projection for the years up  
to 2030-31. 

The financial plans for the next three years indicate that by 
2027-28, King’s will be earning a surplus equivalent to 4%  
of income. This forecast depends on achieving the continued 
planned growth in international student tuition fees, and 
more modest growth in other income streams, and a greater 
focus on generating operational efficiencies and academic 
productivities. Our budget for 2025-26 would indicate  
a marginally higher surplus than that earned in 2024-25.

The 4% of income surplus would support an annual 
investment fund in excess of £120m per annum from  
2027-28. We consider this to be the minimum sum needed  
to support our academic ambitions and maintain and 
enhance our digital and physical infrastructure. King’s  
is approaching the 200th Anniversary of our foundation.  
We want to be a ‘forever’ institution, and while very 
conscious of the rich legacy bestowed on this generation  
of the King’s community, we must be dutiful stewards  
for the coming generations. We need a consistent and 
dependable surplus to have the confidence and resources  
to make the necessary investments.

Risks and Uncertainties
As has been highlighted in earlier years, the most significant 
risk relates to international student fees. For the two years 
before 2024-25, King’s had seen relatively modest growth in 
income from international student tuition fees, with a growth 
from £335m in 2021-22 to £347m in 2023-24, as the large 
‘Covid-years’ intake worked through towards graduation. 
In 2024-25, there was a very marked increase to £414m, 
as the King’s postgraduate student population recovered 
from a recruitment dip in 2023-24, and there was a larger 
undergraduate intake. We are planning for a similar pattern 
in the short to medium term, with postgraduate recruitment 
broadly stable, and higher undergraduate intakes. There 
would then be slightly higher growth rates when Bush House 
South West Wing provides additional teaching, student 
facilities and staff accommodation capacity from 2027-28. 
Our plan is that our taught student population on campus 
would be c40,000 by 2030-31. It must be emphasised that 
our student growth will be broadly balanced between home 
and international students, and the proportion of home 
students in our taught population will remain around 55%. 
The controlled growth ambition will be central to the aims  
of Strategy 2030. 

There are clearly risks around this planning assumption 
of continued modest controlled growth in international 
students. We have seen large swings in other UK universities’ 
recruitment numbers, as student preference and international 
trends change. We are also mindful of increased tensions in 
international relations which might reduce student mobility. 
There are also uncertainties over UK government policies, 
both in terms of Visa and work opportunity policies and 
the discussion over the imposition of a financial levy on 
international student income. While any levy would not 
necessarily affect student numbers, it would certainly reduce 
the funding available to a university for any given population 
of students.

King’s is looking to mitigate the risk in a number of ways. 
Firstly, our academic offering and the opportunities for our 
students positions us alongside the very best universities in 
the world. That strength is reflected in our position in the 
international rankings, and our upward trajectory in those 
rankings. We are looking to increase our physical presence 
in our key recruitment markets so that the King’s offer can 
be explained clearly to potential students, their parents 
and sponsors. We have been able to increase international 
student tuition fees modestly above UK inflation in recent 
years (from our analysis, this has also been the general 
approach of other Russell Group universities) but keep 
individual course fees under close scrutiny, looking at 
student demand and any supply constraints at King’s  
when assessing fees. 

Operating and financial review for the year ended 31 July 2025
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While we feel we have robust mitigations in place, we  
have also considered the actions necessary should there  
be a marked reduction in income compared with our 
forecasts. In considering the budget for 2025-26, we 
agreed that any reduction in income as a result of missing 
recruitment targets would be matched by reduced 
expenditure. If any reduction was sustained, we have 
discussed sizeable reductions in our spending plans, 
including tighter controls on staffing expenditure.

The second significant financial risk relates to our spending. 
The last decade has seen very strong income growth at 
King’s but this has been closely mirrored by expenditure 
growth. We compare our financial performance with other 
institutions in the Russell Group, and our surplus as a 
percentage of income has tended to lag the Russell Group 
average. A particular feature of the 2023-24 comparison of 
larger Russell Group institutions (the latest data available) 
was that our salaries and wages represented over 58% of total 
income, substantially above the average. In 2024-25, the rate 
of increase in staff costs moderated from the 2023-24 figure, 
but still closely matched the income growth (8.4% income 
growth compared with 8.2% salary cost increase). 

While some of the increase in salary costs and staff numbers 
is explained by the transfer in of staff at the conclusion of 
a successful outsourced facilities management contract, 
King’s appears to be out of line with our closest comparator 
institutions. We are looking to mitigate this risk in two ways. 
Firstly, we have set targets for a reduction in the costs of 
Professional Services operations relative to income. We aim 
to reduce the spending on Professional Services operations 
from 37% of income in 2024-25 to at most 34% of income 
in 2027-28. Secondly, we are looking to improve the income 
earned by academic staff, with a target of increasing the 
income earned from research grants and contracts and 
reducing the cost of teaching relative to income, again by 
2027-28. The combined impact of these changes would be 
an improvement in the efficiency and productivity of our 
activity by £50m by 2027-28. The impact of individual 
actions will be monitored by Finance Committee.

Our students have sent a persistent message to King’s  
that parts of the student experience are not consistent  
with that expected at a world class university. King’s has 
invested substantially in recent years in improving core 
services and systems used by our students. It was pleasing  
to see a 4% increase in overall student satisfaction as 
expressed in the 2025 National Student Survey (NSS);  
the 4% increase should be seen in the context of an average 
increase across England of around 2%. However, we are 
ambitious for further improvements, and our support 
will extend beyond the years of study at King’s and into 
enhancing the long-term careers of our students. In the 
coming years we will ensure that systems and processes 
are acceptable, and we will move to further qualitative 
enhancements of the student experience. 

The large scale capital developments, and particularly the 
construction of the new Bush House South West Wing, 
represent both part of the mitigation of student recruitment 
risks and student experience and outcomes risks, but also 
are a risk in themselves. The Bush House South West Wing 
is a very large construction project, with an estimated total 
cost of £270m (including the freehold purchase price of 
£100m in 2021-22), with more than £150m still to be spent. 
Our academic plans and promises to students for improved 
student facilities require that the building is fully in use from 
the start of 2027-28. There are risks of overspends on the 
costs and delays in the completion. We will mitigate these 
as far as possible by very close supervision of the project 
and strong project management. However, there will be 
an inevitable change in our cash position as a result of this 
level of expenditure. This reduces the cash buffer that we 
currently enjoy. With a lower cash balance, we will be 
obliged to react more quickly to any financial shocks in 
terms of reducing expenditure to match any income loss. 

Going Concern
The senior officers of the University and Council, as is  
their responsibility, have considered the going concern  
status of King’s, and are confident the University is,  
and will continue to be, a going concern for the foreseeable 
future (defined externally as a period greater than 12 months 
from the approval date of these financial statements). These 
financial statements have therefore been prepared on a going 
concern basis. 

In coming to this conclusion, the senior officers and Council 
have taken the following actions;

•	 Prepared detailed income and expenditure, and cash  
flow budgets and forecasts for the 2025-26 financial  
year, with due regard to sensitivity of income to home 
and overseas student numbers, updated with knowledge 
of student enrolments.

•	 Prepared prudent income and expenditure, cash flow, 
and balance sheet forecasts for a period of five years and 
these will be shared with the Office for Students. We will 
extend this Annual Financial Return for a further year to 
2030-31, and this will represent the financial baseline for 
our Strategy 2030. 

•	 Calculated and reviewed debt covenants on both an 
actual and forecast basis five years from the balance  
sheet date, to ensure it will not breach them based  
upon the University’s financial strategy and plan.

•	 Reverse stress tested the University in a number of 
scenarios (for example a 5% salary award and loss of 
£100m international student tuition fees) to see whether 
these conditions created an existential risk and/or 
whether there would be a breach of debt covenants,  
or cash held being insufficient to meet payroll. Cost 
reduction mitigations have been discussed within the 
University Executive if there was a significant reduction 
in income in the future.

Operating and financial review for the year ended 31 July 2025
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•	 Had all budgets and forecasts scrutinised by the 
University’s Finance Committee which has expert 
Council and independent members.

•	 Considered the solvency and liquidity position of the 
University and the availability to it of debt finance as 
required, including active management of its credit rating 
(as provided by Standard & Poor’s).

•	 Worked with Standard & Poor’s to ensure a fair review 
of our credit rating (AA-) and outlook (Stable)

•	 Considered the severe but plausible downsides the 
University may be faced within the foreseeable future, 
including substantial reductions in international student 
tuition fees.

King’s is in a strong financial position, and in our detailed 
financial and operational planning for the coming four years, 
we see considerable safety margins in our cash holdings, 
which were £251m plus £70m of cash deposits maturing 
before April 2026 at the balance sheet date. Although we 
believe that external loan finance would be available to us, 
we do not see foresee the need to take further borrowing for 
at least the coming three financial years. 

Forecasts 
As described above, King’s has brought operational and 
financial planning closely together in a rolling three-year 
plan, and will use the Annual Financial Return (extended 
by one year) to establish a financial baseline for the six years 
covered by Strategy 2030. This will establish the expected 
activity – in terms of student numbers, research grants 
and contracts and other income, cost envelopes and target 
overall financial performance – for our constituent academic 
faculties and professional services directorates. The actual 
performance across the Strategy period will be compared 
with the financial baseline, and appropriate action taken in 
response to adverse variances.

Our forecast aims for a consistent and dependable surplus  
of 4% on income in our Financial Statements from 2027-28. 
This will then support annual investments averaging £120m 
per annum across the six years to 2030-31. 

Severe but plausible downsides
For a risk to be an existential going concern issue it would 
likely need to lead to one of the following scenarios:

•	 The University breaches the terms of its registration  
with the OfS and loses the right to award degrees or 
receive funding through the student loans system.

•	 Cash falls to a level where the University can no longer 
meet its financial obligations, as they fall due.

•	 The University breaches its loan covenants and is then 
not able to renegotiate new terms with lenders meaning 
that the debt falls due, and the University is unable to 
make payment.

•	 Permanent or long-term loss of access to key, teaching, 
research, and administrative facilities.

Based upon our going concern review, no risk is currently 
considered to put the University into one of the above 
positions. 

Conclusion
The financial results for 2024-25 represent a strong position. 
We have recovered from a dip in international postgraduate 
students in 2023-24, with growth in both undergraduate and 
postgraduate international students and a substantial increase 
in tuition fee income. Expenditure growth was well below 
income growth, although our staff costs grew at a similar 
pace to overall income. The surplus of £39.8m before other 
gains and losses was better than our start of year forecast.

The financial performance gives credibility to our financial 
targets for the future. The 2024-25 surplus represents 
2.9% of income, compared with our target of a consistent 
surplus of at least 4% of income in 2027-28 and subsequent 
years. We see considerable opportunities for efficiency and 
productivity gains, particularly in the relationship of staff 
costs to income. This will be fully reflected in the financial 
forecasts to be submitted to the Office for Students in our 
Annual Financial Return (AFR). We will also be using the 
AFR as the financial baseline against which we will compare 
financial performance and future plans and budgets in the 
King’s Strategy 2030. 

Mr Stephan Weiner
Treasurer and Chair  
of Finance Committee		
	

Malcolm Ace
Vice President (Finance)  
& Chief Financial Officer
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The University is an ‘exempt’ charity under Schedule 3 of 
the Charities Act 2011. This means King’s is not registered 
with the Charity Commission and has no charity registration 
number. Under the Charities Act 2006, King’s and other 
universities that are exempt charities are regulated by the 
Office for Students (OfS) as ‘principal regulator’ on behalf  
of the Commission.

As the University’s trustee, the Council is responsible for 
defining the strategic aims of King’s and directing the 
activities of its Executive in the furtherance of these objects. 

When setting objectives and planning activities, the Council 
and the Executive give careful consideration to the Charity 
Commission’s general guidance and to its supplementary 
guidance on public benefit. Attention is also paid to 
guidance issued by the OfS in its role as principal regulator 
on behalf of the Commission.

The beneficiaries of the University’s charitable activities 
during the year included:

•	 the University’s undergraduate, postgraduate taught and 
postgraduate research students, who benefitted from the 
education provided by King’s in their development as 
individuals and in their employment prospects.

•	 the beneficiaries from the advancement of research by 
King’s on its own and in conjunction with strategic 
partners.

•	 society at large, reflected in the University’s commitment 
to service as a strategic priority, and illustrated by the 
examples given above and many others.

Widening participation and removing barriers to higher 
education
King’s College London is committed to producing highly 
employable graduates through a holistic approach that 
combines world-class education, skills development, careers 
support, widening participation activities, and wellbeing 
services. This strategy ensures King’s graduates are among 
the most sought after by UK employers, ranking 14th out 
of 140 universities in the Graduate Market in 2024 Report, 
produced by High Fliers. 

At the heart of our approach is the belief that access to a 
world-class education – and the opportunities it brings – 
should be open to all.

We provide extensive financial support to ensure that 
background is never a barrier to higher education, including 
a range of bursary and scholarship options. Our support 
is strategically targeted to reach the greatest number 
of students from widening participation backgrounds. 
The King’s Living Bursary is awarded to every eligible 
student – currently supporting around 5,000 students 
annually. Thanks to our strong approach to fair access and 
representation, we’ve seen a rise in students from the most 
disadvantaged and least represented backgrounds. For 
priority groups such as care leavers, this often results in 
multiple bursaries being awarded.

We also deliver a range of support for underrepresented 
groups in higher education in partnership with organisations 
that share our commitment to widening access. One example 
is the Raheem Sterling Foundation – we partner with the 
Foundation to deliver scholarships at King’s that aim to close 
the attainment gap for Black British students, increase social 
mobility, and support equal access to higher education. 

Our Widening Participation work also encompasses many 
highly successful initiatives such as our Extended Medical 
Degree Programme, the largest and longest running 
programme of its type, which aims to broaden participation 
in medicine, and from which around 1000 students have 
graduated to date. 

Our two-year widening participation programme for sixth 
form and college students, ’K+’, prepares students for 
academic, social and cultural life at university. Each year 
over 500 Year 12 students in London and surrounding areas 
take part and receive support from academics, current 
students, graduates, businesses and university staff to make 
sure that students are in the best position to apply, obtain the 
grades they need and have the best start to their university 
career and future.

In an increasingly complex global landscape, the King’s 
Sanctuary Programme continues to make higher education 
accessible to people from forced migration backgrounds. 
Since its launch in 2015, the programme has provided full 
tuition and living cost support to over 70 scholars – including 
15 from Ukraine – and developed a University Sponsorship 
Model offering a safe, legal route to the UK for displaced 
students and academics.

We support students throughout their time at King’s with 
a comprehensive wellbeing offer. This includes one of the 
UK’s first Domestic and Sexual Violence Advisors in higher 
education, as part of our Specialist Welfare Support team, 
which also includes residential and disability support, faculty 
wellbeing advisors, financial and housing guidance, hardship 
funding, and a 24/7 online wellbeing platform.

Charitable status
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Using King’s expertise to address global challenges
King’s world-class researchers and academics provide 
evidence, data, and expertise across a broad range of topics 
to inform policymakers and influencers and help tackle 
global challenges – from healthcare advancement to climate 
change, global conflict to gender inequality.

This year, key breakthroughs in healthcare include research 
offering hope for the first new treatment for asthma attacks 
in 50 years, and the first clinical trial testing whether adults 
with peanut allergies can be desensitised, with promising 
results: two-thirds of participants were able to consume the 
equivalent of four peanuts without reacting.

A trial led by King’s found that offering HPV self-sampling 
kits to those individuals who were at least six months 
overdue for cervical screening could enable more than a 
million more people in England to participate in cervical 
screening over the next three years. Following this, the 
government announced that self-sampling kits will be made 
available to those who have not attended their cervical 
cancer check – potentially saving lives.

Across the University, our institutes shine a light on critical 
societal issues. The Global Institute for Women’s Leadership 
(GIWL) continues to deliver comprehensive analysis of 
gender equality worldwide through the annual International 
Women’s Day survey in collaboration with Ipsos, spanning 
30 countries. For the first time this year, GIWL also analysed 
data across 372 UK local authorities, revealing significant 
disparities in outcomes for women and men – with none 
achieving full gender parity.

Our Policy Institute continues to bring together 
policymakers and academics, drawing on its convening 
power and providing valuable insights into the values, 
concerns and attitudes of the British public, on key issues 
such as wealth inequality, climate change, and trust in  
public institutions. Its work also helps to shape effective  
and impactful policy through assessments and evaluations  
of government schemes, most recently providing evaluations 
of youth employment schemes and government access-to-
work pilot programmes.

An interdisciplinary approach to tackling climate change
We recognise that global challenges cannot be solved in 
isolation, which is why King’s takes an interdisciplinary 
approach. King’s Climate & Sustainability exemplifies 
this commitment, bringing together experts from across 
the university to collaborate on major climate research 
initiatives. These projects generate insights that help shape 
the future of our societies and the planet, addressing issues 
such as the intersection of climate change and population 
ageing, socially and environmentally sustainable business 
practices, and environmental security.

This research focus is complemented by practical initiatives 
at King’s, including our ‘Root-to-Tip’ dining project, which 
aims to reduce food waste and increase fibre intake; our 
Sustainability & Climate module for staff and students;  
and our ongoing efforts to decarbonise university operations. 
Together, these actions have placed King’s in the top one  
per cent of universities worldwide for sustainability, 
recognised as 8th in Europe and 14th globally in the QS 
World University Sustainability Rankings 2025, which  
assess how institutions are addressing environmental, social,  
and governance (ESG) challenges.

Supporting our local communities through partnerships 
The King’s Maths School with very close links to King’s 
College, based in Lambeth, provides opportunities for 
high potential A-level students with a passion and aptitude 
for mathematics – particularly those from backgrounds 
currently underrepresented in the mathematical sciences. 
This year, we successfully fundraised £2.5 million to support 
the King’s Maths School and we were delighted to see it 
receive Sixth Form College of the Year 2025 and Sixth Form 
College of the Year for Academic Excellence 2025 by The 
Sunday Times Parent Power schools guide.

Additionally, our My Life SC1ence programme, co-created 
with the London Institute for Healthcare Engineering 
(LIHE) and local grassroots organisation We Rise, is a 
pioneering work experience initiative that enables local 
participants to collaborate with technicians, academics, 
students, and entrepreneurs from LIHE, King’s School 
of Biomedical Engineering & Imaging Sciences, and St 
Thomas’ Hospital. 

We are fortunate to have a large campus in the heart of 
London, which we’re proud to share with local groups  
and organisers to support their work. Inspired by Strictly 
Come Dancing 2024 winner Chris McCausland – the  
show’s first blind contestant – Step Change Studios, in 
partnership with King’s Sport & Wellness, is teaching 
ballroom dancing to people who are blind or partially 
sighted. Classes are hosted at our Strand campus gym,  
with volunteers including King’s staff and students acting  
as Ballroom and Latin dance partners. In May, King’s  
Sport & Wellness joined Step Change at the Open Worlds  
in Blackpool, where the studio made history as the first 
group of blind dancers to enter the competition. 
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The Southbank Living Wage campaign, aimed at lifting 
tens of thousands of Londoners out of in-work poverty by 
increasing the number of accredited Living Wage employers, 
was supported through King’s strategic partnership with 
Citizens UK. It was led in part by Empoderando Familias, 
a collective of Latinx parents supported by King’s Social 
Mobility & Widening Participation team. The group 
addresses issues related to education, housing, immigration, 
and low pay. Empoderando Familias collaborated with 
King’s BA Social Sciences students from the Social Change 
Lab module to deliver a series of creative actions celebrating 
workers’ rights and the contributions of those working in 
London’s cultural sector. The University’s leadership and 
collaborative efforts to promote the real Living Wage across 
the capital was recognised by the Living Wage Foundation, 
receiving its ‘Institution’ award. 

King’s in service to our communities
Our staff and students are generous with their time, often 
volunteering across a wide range of causes. This includes 
participation in service days – three additional days of 
leave that staff are entitled to take each year to volunteer 
for a cause of their choice. In 2024-25, students and staff 
contributed more than 2,300 hours to support initiatives 
focused on areas including mental health, climate security, 
homelessness, and widening access to education.

King’s Volunteering connects staff and students with 
meaningful opportunities to make a difference in their 
communities and engage with issues they care about. 
This includes our annual Volunteering Fair, attended by 
hundreds of students, staff, and community partners, helping 
participants discover new ways to get involved.

Our students also play a vital role in supporting local people. 
The King’s Legal Clinic, based in the Dickson Poon 
School of Law, improves access to justice through a range 
of activities – from providing free legal advice to members 
of the public to collaborating with local and international 
organisations on research and justice projects. This includes 
the Windrush Justice Clinic (WJC), a partnership between 
King’s Legal Clinic and Southwark Law Centre (SLC), 
which offers legal representation to Windrush victims and 
conducts related research.

Similarly, the King’s Business School Consultancy supports 
local enterprises by offering up to 15 businesses in our 
surrounding boroughs the opportunity to receive free 
consultancy from skilled and ambitious students. Feedback 
from participating businesses has been overwhelmingly 
positive, with many using the insights gained to support 
growth and expansion.

Meeting national skills needs
To meet the evolving skills needs of future students  
we have launched several new courses and programmes.  
These include a new undergraduate Mathematics degree, 
designed to develop innovative problem-solvers who can 
apply mathematical methods to a wide range of real-world 
societal challenges.

We also introduced our first-of-its-kind AI for Science 
Master’s, welcomed by government and drawing expertise 
from across disciplines including biosciences, humanities, 
social sciences, mathematics, security, and law. The 
programme prepares future AI leaders for an increasingly 
complex world and forms part of King’s £45.5 million 
investment in science – advancing knowledge, strengthening 
skills, and powering exploration through education, research, 
and state-of-the-art facilities.

We were also proud to launch a branch medicine course  
at the University of Portsmouth – the first of its kind in  
the UK. Fifty-four students, from Hampshire to Edinburgh, 
are now studying medicine in a branch of an established 
medical school, supported by funded places donated by 
King’s. The branch model offers an innovative solution to 
the UK’s shortage of doctors. According to a 2020 Nuffield 
Trust study, the Portsmouth area has one of the lowest GP-
to-patient ratios in the country, with fewer than 40 GPs per 
100,000 patients. This collaboration aims to expand access 
to medical education on the South coast, where the need  
for general practitioners is especially acute.

Girls and women remain significantly underrepresented in 
engineering in the UK. To help address this, we announced 
an expansion to our pioneering King’s Girls Robotics 
Competition for girls aged 12-16. The competition invites 
teams to design and build robots, supported by our world-
leading scientists and engineers. It aims to boost participants’ 
confidence in their STEM abilities and foster a sense of 
belonging in engineering and technology spaces. The long-
term goal is to inspire more girls to pursue STEM subjects 
and help redress the gender imbalance in these sectors.
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Enhancing global education provision 
This year, we celebrated several successes that exemplify the 
world-leading education our students receive – including our 
nursing programme, ranked first globally by the QS World 
University Rankings. King’s now ranks among the world’s 
best in 42 subjects, and we see global partnerships as central 
to our mission to serve society and expand access to high-
quality education.

We launched several international initiatives to support 
global education provision including in Singhasari, 
Indonesia, where we have introduced a transnational 
education programme offering Master’s degrees in MSc 
Digital Economies and MA Digital Futures, aligned with 
Indonesia’s priority sectors and supporting East Java’s 
ambition to become a regional hub for innovation and 
education.

A Memorandum of Agreement has been signed with 
Abdullah Al Salem University (AASU) and NEST (a 
national company for educational services and training in 
Kuwait) to support the creation of AASU’s new Faculty 
of Medicine and Health Sciences. The partnership aims 
to increase the local supply of doctors and improve health 
outcomes through preventative care, technology, innovation, 
and quality improvement.

Additionally, we have partnered with Hong Kong University 
School of Professional and Continuing Education to deliver 
an MSc Clinical Nursing programme, emphasizing the 
value of research-based education in developing nursing 
leadership.

We have provided Vice-Chancellor Awards for the second 
consecutive year, allocating scholarships to 30 postgraduate 
taught students domiciled in India. These awards recognise 
students who demonstrate how they will use the skills and 
knowledge gained during their studies to benefit society. 
They form part of our broader commitment to advancing 
world-leading education and addressing challenges with 
local, national, and global impact.

King’s ongoing commitment to a whole-university approach 
to sustainability continues to be recognised externally. We 
have scored consistently highly in the People & Planet 
University League, maintaining a first-class classification. 
King’s was ranked in the top 2% of global universities 
and 6th in the UK in the Times Higher Education (THE) 
Impact Rankings 2024, achieving top ranking in the world 
for SDG 12 on Responsible Consumption and Production. 
The University was also recognised as 8th in Europe and 
14th globally in the QS World University Sustainability 
Rankings 2025, putting us in the top 1% of universities  
in the world for sustainability. 

The following sections highlight our progress in 2024-25 
across education, research and operations, together with  
the enablers which support our approach.

2024-25 progress:

1. Education 
•	 An Education for Sustainability (EfS) Toolkit for 

academic and teaching staff has been developed and 
rolled out to all faculties.

•	 We have developed a methodology for auditing EfS  
in our modules and programmes.

•	 117 staff and students undertook Carbon Literacy 
Training and 104 completed the KEATS Sustainability 
& Climate module.

•	 In 2025, King’s included three optional questions about 
environmental sustainability for the first time in the 
National Student Survey (NSS) and Postgraduate 
Taught Experience Survey (PTES). 52% of King’s 
undergraduate students say their course has encouraged 
them to think about environmental sustainability (NSS, 
2025).

2. Research
•	 There has been a 33% increase (from 85 to 113) in the 

number of applications for climate and sustainability-
related research grants compared to 2023-24 and 65%  
of the target award value has been achieved so far, with 
further results still to be announced.

•	 60 project leads submitted applications to the King’s 
Climate and Sustainability seed fund rounds 4 and 5,  
a 25% increase on 2023-24 and, so far, 21 project teams 
from across seven academic departments have been 
awarded funding.
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3. Operations

Energy
•	 King’s carbon reporting is now being restated using the 

Higher Education sector Standardised Carbon Emissions 
Framework (SCEF), as published in the Climate and 
Sustainability Report 2023-24. 

•	 King’s Scope 1 & 2 emissions have remained steady  
in recent years. There has been a 19.6% reduction in 
location-based Scope 1 & 2 carbon emissions comparing 
2024-25 with the 2018-19 baseline across the entire 
estate, including embedded spaces. 

Waste & Materials 
•	 Our total operational waste has decreased by 38% from 

the 2017-18 baseline

•	 In 2024-25 we achieved a 58.5% disposal avoidance rate 
for operational waste, surpassing the 55% target rate. This 
comprised 44% of waste recycled, 11% sent to anaerobic 
digestion, 1% composted, 1% reused, and 1% treated via 
water treatment.

Sustainable Procurement
•	 In 2024-25, carbon emissions resulting from purchased 

goods and services were calculated as 205,385 tonnes 
CO2e, an 80% increase from a 2018-19 baseline. It is 
important to note that this is calculated on spend-based 
data, which doesn’t account for the reduced emissions 
associated with more sustainable purchases. 

•	 Business travel emissions have reduced by 25% from 
2023-24 to 2024-25 to 11,048 tonnes, despite a 9% 
increase in flight bookings in 2024-25. The reduction in 
emissions is largely because of a reduction in emissions 
factors due to fuller planes and therefore fewer emissions 
per passenger, as post-Covid travel continues to increase.

•	 Our new Sustainable Business Travel Policy, published  
in November 2024, states that air travel is not permitted 
(excluding connecting flights and exceptional 
circumstances) if the journey originates and terminates 
within mainland UK. 

Sustainable Infrastructure
•	 Whole Life Carbon reporting is now standard for all 

major projects, and sustainability targets are integrated 
into master planning and governance processes. 
BREEAM, SKA, and other certification frameworks  
are being applied consistently, and renewable energy 
feasibility is routinely assessed. 

Research Operations
•	 King’s became one of the first universities to achieve 

100% sustainability accreditation across its wet labs, 
spanning 44 departments and 64 accredited teams, with 
each one achieving bronze or higher in the Laboratory 
Efficiency Assessment Framework (LEAF). 

Biodiversity
•	 400 hedgerows were planted at both King’s 

sportsgrounds in 2024-25 and of the 400 hedgerows 
planted in 2023-24 at least 75% are surviving.

4. Enablers
•	 King’s signed the Concordat for the Environmental 

Sustainability of Research & Innovation Practice in 
December 2024, deepening its commitment to 
embedding sustainable decision making across the 
organisation. The aims of the Concordat include having 
visible and credible leadership for environmental 
sustainability, ensuring research and innovation is carried 
out in an environmentally sustainable way, and 
promoting shifts to climate-conscious ways of working. 
The Vice-Chancellor & President, Professor Shitij 
Kapur, published a letter of commitment in May 2025.

•	 Climate Action Network members increased to 493  
staff and students, an increase of 8% from 2023-24,  
and Sustainability Champions increased by 2.5% to  
487 members, with 76 staff teams winning awards for 
making sustainable changes to their offices and labs,  
a 29% increase from 2023-24.

•	 Across the year, 299 hours of educational and 
engagement events were offered, including Climate  
& Sustainability Month, a 6.6% increase from last  
year reaching over 2,876 people. Overall, the King’s 
community has spent 858,917 hours engaging with 
climate and sustainability events.
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The Council, as the governing body of the University, has 
responsibility for maintaining an appropriate and robust 
system of internal control that supports the achievement of 
policies, aims and objectives, while safeguarding public and 
other funds and assets for which the Council is responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to the 
governing body in the Charter and Statutes and the OfS 
Terms and Conditions of Funding for Higher Education 
Institutions.

The system of internal control is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness.

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify the principal risks; to evaluate 
the nature and extent of those risks; and to manage them 
efficiently and effectively. This process was in place for the 
year ended 31 July 2025 and up to the date of the approval of 
the financial statements. It accords with the OfS Conditions 
of Registration. 

The Council has responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control. 

The following processes have been established:

•	 The Council considers the plans and strategic direction 
of the University on an annual basis.

•	 The Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee 
independently reviews the effectiveness of internal 
control systems and the risk-management process.

•	 The Council receives termly reports from the Chair of 
the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee concerning 
issues of risk, internal controls and their effectiveness, 
which are informed by regular reports from senior 
management on the steps they are taking to manage risks 
in their areas of responsibility, including progress reports 
on key projects.

•	 The University Executive has overall responsibility for 
Risk Management in the University and is supported in 
this task by the Senior Vice-President Operations, Chief 
Operating Officer who coordinates the processes which 
underpin risk management, including the production of a 
Corporate Risk Register, appropriate Risk Appetite 
Statements and balanced scorecards for each key risk.

•	 The Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee reports to 
Council its findings in respect of the effectiveness of the 
risk-management process. This is informed by a regular 
report from the Senior Vice-President Operations, Chief 
Operating Officer which contains updates to the 
corporate risk register and risk-appetite statements, along 
with any other relevant developments in the control of 
risk at the University. In addition, the Committee has the 
opportunity to discuss specific risk management topics 
with senior managers with at least one area being 
selected for focus at every meeting. 

•	 The Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee receives 
regular reports from the Chief Audit and Assurance 
Executive on the effectiveness of internal controls based 
on work undertaken in accordance with its approved 
internal audit plan.

•	 The University has developed a suite of key performance 
indicators (KPIs), allowing the Council to monitor 
progress towards the achievement of strategic objectives. 
The corporate risk register makes clear links to relevant 
KPIs.

•	 The University has an Internal Audit Unit, which sits 
within the College Secretariat. The Internal Audit 
function has developed a strategy to meet professional 
standards as defined by the Institute of Internal Auditors. 
The Internal Audit Unit submits regular reports to the 
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee. that include an 
independent evaluation on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the University’s system of internal 
control, together with recommendations for 
improvement, and follow-up reports on the 
implementation of previous audits.

•	 The Council receives termly and annual reports from the 
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee. Each report 
contains an evaluation which includes an assessment of 
the effectiveness and adequacy of the overall system of 
governance, risk management and control. 

The Council’s full review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control for the year ended 31 July 2025 was 
informed by the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee, 
the work of the Business Assurance Directorate, and by 
reports of the executive managers within the University who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance 
of the internal control framework. It was also informed by 
comments made by the external auditor in its management 
letter and other reports.

Statement on internal control
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The following statement, covering the period of these 
financial statements and up to the date of their approval, 
is provided to enable readers of the financial statements 
of the University to obtain a better understanding of the 
governance and legal structure of King’s. The University 
endeavours to conduct its business:

a.	 in accordance with the conditions of registration set by 
the Office for Students (OfS) and the requirements of 
Research England

b.	 in accordance with the seven principles identified by the 
Nolan Committee on standards in public life (selflessness; 
integrity; objectivity; accountability; openness; honesty; 
leadership) and

c.	 in the light of the guidance to universities that has been 
provided by the Committee of University Chairs in its 
Higher Education Code of Governance (September 
2020).

King’s is an independent corporation whose legal status 
derives from a Royal Charter originally granted in 1829. Its 
objects, powers and framework of governance are set out in 
the Charter and supporting Statutes.

The Charter and Statutes require the University to have two 
bodies, the Council and the Academic Board, each with 
clearly defined functions and responsibilities, to oversee and 
manage its activities.

The Council is the supreme governing body responsible 
for the finance, property, investment and conduct of all 
affairs of the University including the strategic direction 
of the institution. The Council has independent members, 
from whom its Chair and Vice-Chair must be drawn, 
but also included in its membership are University staff 
members and the President of the student body. None of the 
independent members receive any payment, apart from the 
reimbursement of expenses, for the work that they do for the 
University.

The Academic Board is the academic authority of the 
University and draws its membership mainly from the 
academic staff and the students of the institution. It is 
the body responsible under delegated authority from the 
Council for the academic work of the University in teaching, 
examining and research. The Academic Board recommends 
major, strategic academic proposals to the Council and 
provides assurance to Council with respect to quality of 
academic programming.

Although the Council meets at least five times each 
academic year, most of its detailed business is handled 
by committees, in particular a Finance Committee; an 
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee; a Governance, 
Performance and Remuneration Committee; an Estates 
Committee; a People Committee; and a Fellowships & 
Honorary Degrees Committee. 

Each of these committees is formally constituted with 
written terms of reference and specified membership, 
including a significant proportion of independent members 
selected for their expertise and knowledge, from whom the 
Chairs are drawn. Each reports regularly to the Council.

The Finance Committee inter alia recommends to Council 
the University’s annual revenue and capital budgets and 
monitors performance in relation to the approved budgets.  
It also approves comprehensive Financial Regulations for the 
conduct of the financial affairs of the University.

The Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee is responsible 
for meeting at least once annually with the external auditor 
to discuss audit findings, and with the internal auditors 
to consider their detailed internal audit reports and 
recommendations for the improvement of the University’s 
systems of internal control, together with management’s 
response and implementation plans. The Committee 
pays particularly close attention to the implementation of 
recommendations by management and follow-up to audit 
exercises. It receives and considers reports from OfS as they 
affect the University’s business and receives reports from 
other statutory, regulatory or funding agencies concerning 
the University’s compliance with relevant legislation and 
standards. It also reviews accounting policies and any 
major changes to the University’s accounting principles 
and practice that are brought to its attention by the external 
auditor, internal audit or management.

The Governance, Performance and Remuneration 
Committee has responsibility for the effective operation of 
Council and its committees and for oversight of Council’s 
performance. It also determines the annual remuneration of 
the Vice-Chancellor & President, Senior Vice Presidents, 
and Vice Presidents. The University follows the guidelines 
laid out in the Committee of University Chairs higher 
education remuneration code.

The principal academic and executive officer of King’s 
is the Vice-Chancellor & President, who has a general 
responsibility to the Council for ensuring that the objects 
of the University are fulfilled and for maintaining and 
promoting the efficiency, discipline and good order of the 
University. The Vice-Chancellor & President is also, under 
the OfS Terms and Conditions of Funding, the designated 
Accountable Officer of the University and in that capacity 
can be summoned to appear before the Public Accounts 
Committee of the House of Commons.

The Ordinances of the University specify that the University 
Secretary should act as Secretary of the Council. Any 
enquiries about the constitution and governance of the 
University should be addressed to the University Secretary.

Corporate governance
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The Council is responsible for preparing the annual 
report and the financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of the Office for Students’ Terms and 
Conditions of Funding for Higher Education Institutions 
and Research England’s Terms and Conditions of Research 
England Grant and applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Council (the members of 
which are the Directors of the University company for the 
purposes of company law) to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law it has elected 
to prepare the group and parent University financial 
statements in accordance with UK accounting standards 
and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice), including FRS 102 the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 
The Terms and Conditions of Funding further require the 
financial statements to be prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Accounts Direction dated 25 October 
2019 issued by the Office for Students (‘the Accounts 
Direction’) and the 2019 Statement of Recommended 
Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education. 

Under company law the Council must not approve the 
financial statements unless it is satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent 
University and of their income and expenditure, gains and 
losses and changes in reserves, and of the Group’s cash flows 
for that period. In preparing each of the group and parent 
University financial statements, the Council is required to: 

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently; 

•	 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent; 

•	 state whether applicable UK accounting standards  
and the 2019 Statement of Recommended Practice– 
Accounting for Further and Higher Education have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements; 

•	 assess the group and parent University’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and 

•	 use the going concern basis of accounting unless it either 
intends to liquidate the group or the parent University or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

The Council is responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent 
University’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent 
University and enable it to ensure that its financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. It is 
responsible for such internal control as it determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and has general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to it to safeguard the assets 
of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. 

The Council is also responsible for ensuring that:

•	 funds from whatever source administered by the Group 
or the University for specific purposes have been properly 
applied to those purposes and managed in accordance 
with relevant legislation; 

•	 income has been applied in accordance with the 
University’s Statutes; 

•	 funds provided by the Office for Students, UK Research 
and Innovation (including Research England) and the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency and the 
Department for Education have been applied in 
accordance with the terms and conditions attached  
to them;

•	 ensuring that there are appropriate financial and 
management controls in place to safeguard public funds 
and funds from other sources; and

•	 securing the economical, efficient and effective 
management of the University’s resources and 
expenditure. 

The Council is responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on the 
University’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement on Council responsibilities  
in respect of the financial statements
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of King’s College 
London (‘the University’) for the year ended 31 July 2025 
which comprise the Consolidated and University Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, Consolidated 
and University Statement of Changes in Reserves, 
Consolidated and University Balance Sheets, Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the 
accounting policies . 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and  
of the University’s affairs as at 31 July 2025, and of the 
Group’s and of the University’s income and expenditure, 
gains and losses and changes in reserves, and of the 
Group’s cash flows, for the year then ended; and

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with UK 
accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs (UK)’) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have 
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are 
independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical 
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a 
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 
The Council has prepared the financial statements on the 
going concern basis as it does not intend to liquidate the 
Group or the University or to cease their operations, and  
as it has concluded that the Group and the University’s 
financial position means that this is realistic. It has also 
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that  
could have cast significant doubt over their ability to 
continue as a going concern for at least a year from the  
date of approval of the financial statements (‘the going 
concern period’).

In our evaluation of the Council’s conclusions, we 
considered the inherent risks to the Group’s business model 
and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and 
the University’s financial resources or ability to continue 
operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

•	 we consider that the Council’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate; and

•	 we have not identified and concur with the Council’s 
assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty 
related to events or conditions that, individually or 
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group  
or the University’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions 
and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are 
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the 
time they were made, the above conclusions are not a 
guarantee that the Group or the University will continue  
in operation. 

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability  
to detect 

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement  
due to fraud
To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud 
(‘fraud risks’) we assessed events or conditions that could 
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide 
an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment 
procedures included :

•	 Enquiring of directors, Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee, internal audit and inspection of policy 
documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies  
and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including  
the internal audit function, and the Group’s channel  
for ‘whistleblowing’, as well as whether they have 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

•	 Reading Council minutes.

•	 Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual  
or unexpected relationships

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the 
audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud 
throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account 
possible pressures to meet loan covenants and performance 
targets, we perform procedures to address the risk of 
management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent 
revenue recognition, in particular:

•	 the risk that Group management may be in a position  
to make inappropriate accounting entries; and 

•	 the risk that research income is not recognised in 
accordance with the relevant grant terms and conditions, 
the University’s accounting policies or relevant 
accounting standards.

Independent auditor’s report to  
the Council of King’s College London
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We did not identify any additional fraud risks. 

In determining the audit procedures we took into account 
the results of our evaluation and testing of the operating 
effectiveness of some of the Group-wide fraud risk 
management controls.

We also performed procedures including: 

•	 Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria 
and comparing the identified entries to supporting 
documentation. These included journal entries that have 
unusual combinations of debits and credits and journal 
entries posted to unusual or seldom used accounts.

•	 For a sample research projects, we tested whether 
expenditure was in line with the terms and conditions  
of the relevant contract and assessed whether associated 
income was included in the correct period and accounted 
for in accordance with the requirements of the relevant 
accounting standards.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to 
compliance with laws and regulations
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could 
reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements from our general commercial and sector 
experience and through discussion with the directors and 
other management (as required by auditing standards), 
and from inspection of the Group’s regulatory and legal 
correspondence and discussed with the directors and 
other management the policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations 
throughout our team and remained alert to any indications  
of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the 
financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that 
directly affect the financial statements including financial 
reporting legislation, taxation legislation, pensions legislation 
and higher education financial reporting related regulation 
and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws 
and regulations as part of our procedures on the related 
financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and 
regulations where the consequences of non-compliance 
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures  
in the financial statements, for instance through the 
imposition of fines or litigation or the need to include 
significant provisions. We identified the following areas as 
those most likely to have such an effect: compliance with the 
regulatory framework of the Office for Students, recognising 
the regulated nature of the Group’s activities. Auditing 
standards limit the required audit procedures to identify 
non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry 
of the directors and other management and inspection of 
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if 
a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or 
evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not 
detect that breach.

We have reported separately on the University’s use of funds 
in the section of our audit report dealing with other legal and 
regulatory requirements.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law  
or regulation
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even 
though we have properly planned and performed our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the 
further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures 
required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk 
of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are 
designed to detect material misstatement. We are not 
responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and 
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all  
laws and regulations.

Other information 
The Council is responsible for the other information, 
which comprises the Foreword from the Vice-Chancellor 
& President’s and the Chair of Council, Operating and 
Financial Review, Sustainability, Council and Council 
Committee Membership, Charitable Status, Corporate 
Governance and Statement on Internal Control. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

Independent auditor’s report to the Council of King’s College London
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Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially 
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the other information. 

Council’s responsibilities 
As explained more fully in its statement set out on page 22, 
the Council is responsible for: the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give  
a true and fair view; such internal control as it determines  
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; assessing the Group and University’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it either intends to 
liquidate the Group or the University or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free  
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or  
error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but  
does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on  
the FRC’s website at frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
We are required to report on the following matters by the 
Accounts Direction dated 25 October 2019 issued by the 
Office for Students (‘the Accounts Direction’).

In our opinion, in all material respects:

•	 funds from whatever source administered by the Group 
or the University for specific purposes have been properly 
applied to those purposes and managed in accordance 
with relevant legislation; 

•	 income has been applied in accordance with the 
University’s Statutes; 

•	 funds provided by the Office for Students, UK Research 
and Innovation (including Research England), and the 
Department for Education have been applied in 
accordance with the relevant terms and conditions; and

•	 the financial statements meet the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required by the Accounts Direction to report to  
you where the University has an access and participation  
plan that has been approved by the Office for Students’ 
director of fair access and participation and the results  
of our audit work indicate that the Group’s and the 
University’s expenditure on access and participation 
activities for the financial year disclosed in note 9 has  
been materially misstated.

We are also required by the Accounts Direction to report 
to you where the results of our audit work indicate that 
the Group’s and the University’s grant and fee income, 
as disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements has been 
materially misstated.

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe 
our responsibilities 
This report is made solely to the Council in accordance 
with with section 13-18 of the Charters and Statutes of the 
University. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Council those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the University 
and the Council for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Rees Batley 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants  
66 Queen Square  
Bristol  
BS1 4BE	

24 November 2025

Independent auditor’s report to the Council of King’s College London

25King’s College London

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) – 
Accounting for Further and Higher Education issued in 
2019. They have also been prepared in accordance with the 
‘carried forward’ powers and duties of previous legislation 
(Further and Higher Education Act 1992 and the Higher 
Education Act 2004) and the new powers of the Higher 
Education and Research Act 2017 during the transition 
period to 31 July 2019, the Royal Charter, the Accounts 
Direction issued by the Office for Students (OfS), the Terms 
and conditions of funding for higher education institutions 
issued by the Office for Students and the Terms and 
conditions of Research England Grant.

The University is a public-benefit entity and has applied  
the relevant public-benefit requirement of FRS 102. 

1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation 
of endowment asset investments, and freehold land.

The functional currency of the University is Pounds 
Sterling, the currency of the United Kingdom, which is the 
primary economic environment the University operates in. 
The consolidated Financial Statements are also presented 
in Pounds Sterling. Foreign operations are included in 
accordance with the Foreign Currency Translation Policy 
set out below.

Judgements made by management in the application of 
these accounting policies that have a significant effect on the 
Financial Statements and estimates with a significant risk of 
material adjustment in the next year are discussed at the end 
of these sections.

2. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements consolidate the 
financial statements of King’s and all its subsidiary 
undertakings for the financial year to 31 July, with uniform 
accounting policies adopted by the University and its 
subsidiaries. Intra-company sales and profits are eliminated 
fully on consolidation. 

Joint ventures are accounted for using the ‘Equity Method’. 
They are initially recognised at transaction cost adjusted 
each year to reflect the University’s share of the joint 
venture’s Comprehensive Income, recognised through 
Other Comprehensive Income. Joint ventures are reviewed 
annually to ensure that the investment is worth the carrying 
amount and a provision against the value created, if 
necessary.

In accordance with Section 9 of FRS 102, the consolidated 
financial statements do not include those of the King’s 
College London Students’ Union, in which the University 
has no financial interest and no control or significant 
influence over policy decisions.

The Institution has taken the exemption under section  
3.3 of the SORP (1.12(b) of FRS 102) to not produce  
a cash flow statement for the Institution in its separate 
financial statements.

3. Going concern

The University continues to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing these financial statements. In coming to this 
conclusion Council and the Officers of the University have 
undertaken the following actions;

•	 Prepared detailed income and expenditure, and cash flow 
budgets and forecasts for the 2025-26 financial year, with 
due regard to sensitivity of income to home and overseas 
student numbers.

•	 Prepared prudent Income and Expenditure, cash flow, 
and balance sheet forecasts for a period of five years.

•	 Calculated and reviewed debt covenants on both an 
actual and forecast basis five years from the balance sheet 
date, to ensure it will not breach them based upon the 
University’s financial strategy and plan.

•	 Reverse stress tested the University in a number of 
scenarios to see under what circumstances it would face 
an existential risk, including what would lead to a breach 
of debt covenants, or cash held being insufficient to meet 
payroll. With a mitigation plan devised for these 
circumstances.

•	 Had all budgets and forecasts scrutinised by the 
University’s Finance Committee which has expert 
independent members.

•	 Considered the solvency and liquidity position of the 
University and the availability to it of debt finance as 
required, including active management of its credit rating 
(as provided by Standard & Poor’s).

•	 Considered the severe but plausible downsides the 
University may be faced with in the foreseeable future 
such as cash falling to a level where the University can  
no longer meet its financial obligations as they fall due  
or breaches of loan covenants.

Based upon this Council is confident that the University 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future, and will have sufficient funds 
to meet its liabilities as they fall due over a period of at 
least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial 
statements. 

Council is not aware of any material uncertainties which 
would prevent the University from continuing as a going 
concern.

Statement of principal accounting policies
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4. Recognition of income 

Provision of goods and services
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure when the goods or services are supplied to the 
external customers or to the extent of the completion or 
provision of the service supplied.

Tuition fees and education contracts
Student-fee income is stated net of any expenditure that is 
a discount and credited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure over the period in 
which students are studying. Bursaries and scholarships are 
accounted for gross as expenditure and not deducted from 
income.

Agency
Funds the University receives and disburses as paying agent 
on behalf of a funding body are excluded from the income 
and expenditure of the University where the University is 
exposed to minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit 
related to the transaction.

Grants
Where the University receives income, such as grants, on 
a basis that is without commercial substance it accounts 
for this on a Non-Exchange Transaction basis. A Non-
Exchange Transaction is defined as when:

‘An entity receives value from another entity without directly 
giving approximately equal value in exchange.’

Government grants include funding council block grant, 
research grants from government sources, and other grants 
and donations from non-government sources (including 
research grants).

As set out in Section 24 of FRS 102, Government Grants, 
the University has opted to account for government grants as 
for other non-exchange transactions, under the performance 
model. Income is recognised within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income when the grant is receivable 
(legal/contractual commitment) and performance related 
conditions specified in the agreement are met. In the absence 
of performance conditions income is recognised in full as 
soon as it becomes receivable.

Performance conditions are defined as follows:

‘A condition that requires the performance of a particular level 
of service or units of output to be delivered, with payment of, or 
entitlement to, the resources conditional on that performance.’

Resources received in advance of completion of performance 
conditions are recognised on the balance sheet as deferred 
income and released to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as conditions are met. Where grants are received in 
arrears accrued income or receivable assets are recognised in 
line with income recognition.

For OfS / Research England funding grants relating to a 
single academic year, income is recognised in full in the 
period to which the grant relates. Grants relating to more 
than a single year are recognised pro-rata across the term  
of the grant.

Grants for the purpose of purchasing or constructing 
specific assets are recognised as income upon the asset 
being brought into use, or in line with phased completion 
of large construction projects where this is the performance 
condition. Grants where the University has discretion over 
the assets purchased or built and there is no performance 
condition are recognised in full as income when the grant 
becomes receivable.

Income is classified as ‘Research Grants and Contracts’ 
when it meets the Frascati definition of research as set 
out by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD), and which is generally accepted 
within the Higher Education sector as the standard by  
which work is determined to be research. In the majority 
of cases research income is recognised in line with 
expenditure of the grant on the research area and any 
related contributions towards overhead costs, spend on 
appropriate research costs being the performance condition. 
In accordance with SORP 18.6, the University has chosen 
to distinguish donations for research as ‘Research Grants and 
Contracts’ income and apply the above accounting policy to 
the related income recognition. 

Donations, endowments, and non-government capital 
grants
Donations and endowments are non-exchange transactions 
which do not meet the definition of government or research 
grants and are accounted for under the performance model. 

Donation and new endowment income is recognised 
within the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the 
grant is receivable (legal/contractual commitment) and 
performance-related conditions specified in the agreement 
are met. In the absence of performance conditions income 
is recognised in full as soon as it becomes receivable, being 
the earlier of receipt of the donation or contractual obligation 
from the donor.

Donations and endowments with donor-imposed 
restrictions are recognised in restricted income and restricted 
endowment reserves respectively and retained within the 
restricted reserves until such time as it is used in line with the 
restrictions, at which point the income is released to general 
reserves through a reserve transfer.

Restrictions are defined as:

‘A requirement that limits or directs the purposes for which 
a resource may be used that does not meet the definition of a 
performance-related condition.’

Donations with no restrictions are recorded in unrestricted 
income reserves.
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Statement of principal accounting policies

There are four main types of donations and endowments 
with restrictions, which are:

•	 restricted donations – the donor has specified that  
the donation must be used for a particular objective 

•	 unrestricted permanent endowments – the donor has 
specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to 
generate income for the general benefit of the University

•	 restricted expendable endowments – the donor has 
specified a particular objective other than the purchase  
or construction of tangible fixed assets, and the 
University can convert the donated sum into income

•	 restricted permanent endowments – the donor has 
specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to 
generate income to be applied to a particular objective.

Donations for the purpose of purchasing or constructing 
specific assets are recognised as income upon the asset 
being brought into use, or in line with phased completion 
of large construction projects where this is the performance 
condition. 

Donations for the purpose of specific research activity  
or projects which meet the Frascati definition of research 
as set out by the OECD and can include donor-imposed 
conditions that must be fulfilled (e.g. achievement of 
research milestones) are treated as ‘Research Grants and 
Contracts’. The recognition of income then follows our 
Grants policy in that income is recognised in line with 
expenditure of the grant on the research area and any related 
contributions towards overhead costs, spend on appropriate 
research costs being the performance condition.

Investment Income
Investment income from short-term deposits is included in 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure on a receivable basis.

Endowment investment income and appreciation is recorded 
in income in the year in which it arises, as either restricted or 
unrestricted income according to the terms of the individual 
endowment fund.

The University operates a total return endowment 
investment management policy for permanent endowments. 
This allows the spending of permanent endowment 
investment gains regardless of whether they are realised  
or unrealised capital gains or dividend and interest income. 
The Investment Subcommittee has adopted a total return 
spending rate of four per cent applied to the average ending 
portfolio valuation over the previous 12 quarters.

5. Employment benefits 

Post-employment benefits (pensions)
The three principal pension schemes in which the University 
participates are the Universities Superannuation Scheme 
(USS), the Superannuation Arrangements of the University 
of London (SAUL) and the Department of Health’s NHS 
Pension Scheme (NHSPS). The schemes are valued at 
least every three years by professionally qualified and 
independent actuaries. 

SAUL is a defined benefit scheme, and with effect from  
1 October 2016, USS changed from a defined benefit only 
pension scheme to a hybrid pension scheme, providing 
defined benefits (for all members), as well as defined 
contribution benefits. 

The assets of both schemes are held in separate trustee 
administered funds. Due to the mutual nature of the 
schemes, the assets are not attributed to individual 
institutions and scheme wide contribution rates are set.  
The University is therefore exposed to actuarial risks 
associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable  
to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of 
the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis. Therefore, 
as required by Section 28 of FRS 102 Employee Benefits,  
the University accounts for the schemes as if they are 
defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
represents the contributions payable to the schemes  
in respect of the accounting period. 

A liability is recorded within provisions for any contractual 
commitment to fund past deficits within either USS or 
SAUL as determined by the scheme management. The 
provision being calculated on a discounted future cash  
flow basis and the associated expense and subsequent  
release being recognised as staff costs in the Statement  
of Comprehensive Income.

NHSPS is a statutory, unfunded, multi-employer, defined 
benefit scheme in which the University is unable to identify 
its share of the underlying liabilities and assets, and it is 
accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme. 
As a result, the amount charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income represents the contributions payable 
to the scheme in respect of the accounting period. As the 
scheme is unfunded there is no requirement to provide for 
contractual commitments to fund past deficits.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employment benefits such as salaries and 
compensated absences are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the employees render service to the University. 
A liability is recognised at each Balance Sheet date to the 
extent that employee holiday allowances have been accrued 
but not taken, the expense being recognised as staff costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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6. Finance leases 

Leases in which the University assumes substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are 
classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired by way 
of finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the lower 
of their fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability.

7. Operating leases 

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Any lease premiums  
or incentives are spread over the lease term.

8. Repairs and maintenance

Expenditure to ensure that a Property, Plant and 
Equipment asset maintains its previously recognised 
standard of performance is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred. 
The University has a planned maintenance programme, 
which is reviewed annually.

9. Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to sterling at the foreign-exchange rate ruling at 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet 
date are retranslated to sterling at the foreign-exchange rate 
ruling at that date. Foreign-exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognised in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. The resulting 
exchange differences are dealt with in the determination of 
income and expenditure for the financial year.

10. Intangible assets

Software licences and implementation costs
Software, licences, and their associated implementation 
costs, costing less than £50k are written off in the year of 
acquisition. All other software, licences, and associated 
implementation costs are capitalised at cost (including 
irrecoverable VAT and costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended) and recognised 
as intangible assets.

Capitalised software and licences are depreciated over their 
useful economic life of up to five years or the remaining 
length of the licence, using the straight-line method. 

11. Fixed assets 

Freehold land
Freehold land is accounted for under a revaluation policy, 
being valued at cost at initial recognition and subsequently 
being revalued to fair value with positive movements 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and in a 
revaluation reserve. Negative movements in fair value are 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income to the extent 
that they reverse previously recognised gains, or expenditure 
where they take the asset below its original cost. Fair value 
has been calculated without deduction for costs which may 
be incurred on any subsequent sale.

The University has a policy of ensuring a full revaluation 
takes place at least every five years, or more frequently 
where there is evidence of impairment, such that the  
market value is not materially different to the current value. 

Buildings and leasehold land
Buildings and long leasehold land are stated at cost 
(including irrecoverable VAT and costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended) less 
accumulated depreciation. 

Where parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items of fixed assets.

Costs incurred in relation to land and buildings after initial 
purchase or construction are capitalised to the extent that 
they increase the expected future benefits to the University.

•	 Freehold buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over their expected useful lives of 50 years, and 100 years 
in respect of new-build property.

•	 Leasehold land is depreciated over the life of the lease.

No depreciation is charged on assets in the course of 
construction.

Equipment and plant
Equipment costing less than £50,000 per individual item or 
group of related items is written off in the year of acquisition. 
All other equipment is capitalised.

Capitalised equipment is stated at cost (including 
irrecoverable VAT and costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended) and 
depreciated over its expected useful life;

•	 Plant - 15 years

•	 Capitalised leased equipment - 15 years.

•	 Fixtures and fittings – 15 years

•	 Equipment purchased on research grants – remaining 
term of the grant

•	 All other equipment – 5 years
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Depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed during 
the preparation of each balance sheet.

Impairment
Assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
each balance sheet date. If there is objective evidence 
of impairment, an impairment loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where indicators 
exist for a decrease in impairment loss on assets, the prior 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that it does 
not lead to a revised carrying amount higher than if no 
impairment had been recognised.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure in the period in which they are incurred.

Disposal of fixed assets
Gains or losses on disposal of fixed assets are recognised as 
the difference between the consideration received (net of 
any VAT) and the carrying value of the asset at the sale date 
plus costs incurred in the sale.

12. Heritage assets

Heritage assets are books, manuscripts, specimens, objects 
or other assets that have historic, scientific, artistic, 
technological, geophysical or environmental qualities and  
are held and maintained principally for their contribution  
to knowledge and culture.

In so far as heritage assets are used as operational assets,  
as in the case of historic buildings, they are capitalised  
in accordance with the policies set out in point 11 above.  
Other heritage assets – principally printed materials, pictures 
and objects of scientific interest – are, for individual items 
exceeding £50,000, capitalised at cost or valuation on 
acquisition, but only where a reliable valuation is available. 
Valuations reflect any impairment or restrictions on use of 
the assets by the University. No assets acquired prior to 1 
August 2000 have been capitalised, as reliable information 
concerning their cost or value on acquisition is not available.

Descriptions of the principal heritage assets held are set out 
in note 16 to the accounts.

13. Investment properties

Investment property is land and buildings held for rental 
income or capital appreciation rather than for use in 
delivering services.

As per section 16.3A of FRS 102, student accommodation 
is not classified as investment property as the University is 
a public benefit entity and the property is held primarily for 
the provision of social benefits.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost 
and subsequently at fair value, based on the valuation 
undertaken by an independent Chartered Surveyor and 
updated annually for market movement, with movements 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure. Properties are not depreciated 
but are revalued or reviewed annually according to market 
conditions as at 31 July.

14. Investments

All investments will initially be recognised at cost and 
subsequently measured at fair value at each reporting date. 
Where fair value cannot be reliably measured or investments 
are not publicly traded, they will be measured at cost less 
impairment. All gains and losses on investment assets, both 
realised and unrealised, are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as they accrue.

Investments in listed shares (where shares are publicly traded 
or their fair value can be reliably measurable) are measured 
at market value.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings and associates are 
recognised at transaction cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.

15. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand 
and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if they  
are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty.  
No investments, however liquid, are included as cash.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
with insignificant risk of change in value. They include 
term deposits, government securities and loan stock held 
as part of the University’s treasury management activities. 
They exclude any such assets held as endowment asset 
investments. Highly liquid is considered to be holdings 
which can be liquidated in less than 3 months.

16. Taxation status

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 
is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) 
using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

The University is an exempt charity within the meaning 
of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011 and as such is a charity 
within the meaning of Paragraph 1 of Schedule 6 to the 
Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the University is potentially 
exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by Sections 478–488 
of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the 
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent  
that such income or gains are applied to exclusively 
charitable purposes. 
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The University receives no similar exemption in respect 
of Value Added Tax but is unable to recover input tax 
incurred on the majority of its expenditure, most education 
and research being VAT-exempt activity. Irrecoverable 
VAT is included in the cost of the goods or services. Any 
irrecoverable VAT allocated to fixed assets is included in 
their cost.

The University’s subsidiary companies are subject to 
corporation tax and VAT in the same way as any other 
commercial organisation. However, no provision is made 
for deferred tax should the taxable profits of the subsidiary 
companies be gift-aided back to King’s.

17. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the University has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made  
of the amount of the obligation.

King’s regularly reviews the risks inherent in its educational 
and research activities and makes financial provision where 
appropriate.

In addition, the University operates its halls of residence on 
a self-financing basis and provides annually for the cost of 
long-term maintenance and regular refurbishment.

18. Financial Instruments

The University has adopted the option to apply the 
recognition, measurement, and disclosure requirements  
of sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102.

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset only when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and an intention either to settle on a net basis, or  
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets
Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at 
transaction price less attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. If the arrangement constitutes a financing 
transaction, for example if payment is deferred beyond 
normal business terms, then it is measured at the present 
value of future payments discounted at a market rate of 
interest for a similar debt instrument.

Other financial assets, including investments in equity 
instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates, or 
joint ventures are initially measured at fair value, which is 
typically the transaction price. These assets are subsequently 
carried at fair value and changes in fair value at the reporting 
date are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Where the investment in equity instruments are not 
publicly traded and where the fair value cannot be reliably 
measured the assets are measured at cost less impairment.

Financial assets are de recognised when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled  
or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the ownership 
of the asset are transferred to another party.

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment 
at each balance sheet date. If there is objective evidence 
of impairment, an impairment loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount  
of an impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost less impairment,  
the impairment loss is the difference between the asset’s  
carrying amount and the best estimate of the amount that 
would be received for the asset if it were to be sold at the 
reporting date.

Financial liabilities
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at 
transaction price plus attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. If the 
arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for example 
if payment is deferred beyond normal business terms, 
then it is measured at the present value of future payments 
discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt 
instrument. Debt instruments are subsequently carried  
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities are de recognised when the liability  
is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

Derivatives (interest rate swaps) are held on the Balance 
sheet at fair value with movements in fair value recorded in 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The 
University has adopted and complied with the requirements 
of hedge accounting and as a result movements in fair value 
are recorded within Other Comprehensive Income. Any 
ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in 
income or expenditure. The hedging gain or loss recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income is reclassified to income or 
expenditure when the hedged item is recognised in profit or 
loss or when the hedging relationship ends.

19. Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of King’s financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates, and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income, and 
expenditure. These judgements, estimates, and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events. The 
estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis and the related 
eventual actual results may differ from these estimates. 
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Accounting estimates
Key assumptions concerning the future and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that may 
cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of asset 
or liabilities are discussed with the external auditors, Audit 
and Risk Compliance Committee and Finance Committee 
during the year. The University considers certain accounting 
estimates relating to provisions and fixed assets as its 
significant accounting estimates as described as follows: 

•	 The valuation of freehold land is performed by 
professionally qualified valuers in accordance with RICS 
Valuation – Global Standards and FRS 102. The fair 
value of land is based on estimates of either open market 
value or depreciated replacement cost. 

•	 Tangible and intangible assets are assessed at the time the 
asset is acquired or construction is completed to establish 
their useful life. This assessment is based on historical 
experience with related assets and any awareness of 
future events. Depreciation is then calculated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic 
lives of the assets.

Significant judgements
Judgements, apart from those above involving estimate 
uncertainty, that management has made in the process 
of applying accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are described as follows:

•	 FRS 102 makes the distinction between a group plan  
and a multi-employer scheme. A group plan consists  
of a collection of entities under common control typically 
with a sponsoring employer. A multi-employer scheme  
is a scheme for entities not under common control and 
represents (typically) an industry-wide scheme such as 
those provided by USS and SAUL. The accounting for  
a multi-employer scheme where the employer has entered 
into an agreement with the scheme that determines how 
the employer will fund a deficit, results in the recognition 
of a liability for the contributions payable that arise from 
the agreement (to the extent that they relate to any 
deficit) and the resulting expense recognised through the 
profit or loss account in accordance with section 28 of 
FRS 102. The University is satisfied that the schemes 
provided by USS and SAUL meet the definition of a 
multi-employer scheme and has therefore recognised the 
discounted fair value of the contractual contributions 
under the recovery plan in existence at the date of 
approving these financial statements.

•	 The annual valuation of the University’s investment 
properties and freehold land includes judgements which 
are based on discussions and expertise from the 
University’s professionally qualified valuers. 

•	 Research income is recognised in line with expenditure 
when it is judged by the University to have the right to 
receive funding from these bodies. 

•	 Research income received in the form of a donation is 
recognised in line with expenditure when it is judged by 
the University to have the right to receive the funding 
from the donor. 

•	 Non-exchange transactions, such as donations, are 
recognised in line with their corresponding gift/grant 
agreements which are reviewed for any performance 
conditions or restrictions. The income is recognised 
when these conditions are judged to have been met.
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Consolidated University

 Note  2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Income

Tuition fees and education contracts  1  711,739  630,497  711,739  630,497 

Funding body grants  2  156,745  144,921  156,745  144,921 

Research grants and contracts  3  260,466  256,883  260,466  256,883 

Other income  4  208,378  186,862  208,686  187,932 

Investment income  6  22,245  26,801  22,126  26,723 

Total income before donations and endowments  1,359,573  1,245,964 1,359,762  1,246,956 

Donations and endowments  7  17,069  23,704  17,069  23,704 

Total income  1,376,642  1,269,668 1,376,831  1,270,660 

Expenditure

Staff costs  8  (800,661)  (740,268)  (786,939)  (729,079)

Staff costs – movement on USS pension provision 8 –  329,866 –  329,866 

Other operating expenses  12  (451,469)  (448,971)  (465,429)  (461,200)

Depreciation and amortisation  14, 15  (69,746)  (60,587)  (69,758)  (60,608)

Interest and other finance costs  11  (14,942)  (23,006)  (14,942)  (23,006)

Total expenditure  12 (1,336,818) (942,966) (1,337,068) (944,027)

Surplus before other gains and losses 39,824 326,702 39,763  326,633 

Gain on other investments  32  1,313 32  1,313 

Gain on endowment investments  18, 26  17,746  25,658  17,746  25,658 

Gain on property investment  17  (297)  (711) (297)  (711)

Surplus before tax 57,305 352,962 57,244 352,893

Taxation  13  111  (10) 120  – 

Surplus for the year  57,416  352,952  57,364  352,893 

Other comprehensive income

Unrealised surplus on revaluation of tangible assets  7,303  2,329  7,303  2,329 

Change in fair value of hedging financial instruments  6,001  (7,118)  6,001  (7,118)

Total comprehensive income for the year  70,720  348,163  70,668  348,104 

Represented by:

Endowment comprehensive income for the year  26  16,002  23,865  16,002  23,865 

Restricted comprehensive income for the year  25  3,859  12,293  3,859  12,293 

Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year  27  37,555  316,794  37,503  316,735 

Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year  7,303  2,329  7,303  2,329 

Cash flow hedge reserve comprehensive income for the year  6,001  (7,118)  6,001  (7,118)

 70,720  348,163  70,668  348,104 

The consolidated income and expenditure of the University and its subsidiaries relates wholly to continuing operations.

There is no difference between the surplus/(deficit) stated above and the historical cost equivalent. Total Comprehensive Income at 
historic cost in 2024-25 would have been £70,720k (2023-24 £348,163k)

The notes from page 37 onwards form part of the financial statements.

Consolidated and University statement  
of comprehensive income and expenditure
For the year ended 31 July 2025
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Income and expenditure account  Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

 Revaluation 
reserve 

Total

Consolidated  Endowment
 £000

 Restricted
£000

 Unrestricted
£000 

 
£000

 
£000 £000 

Balance at 1 August 2023  300,982  20,034  566,244 –  433,595  1,320,855 

Surplus for the year  23,865  12,293  316,794 – –  352,952 

Surplus on revaluation – – – –  2,329  2,329 

Change in fair value of hedging financial instruments – – –  (7,118) –  (7,118)

Total comprehensive income for the year  23,865  12,293  316,794  (7,118)  2,329  348,163 

Reserves transfer –  175  (175) – – –

Balance at 1 August 2024  324,847  32,502  882,863  (7,118)  435,924  1,669,018 

Surplus for the year  16,002  3,859  37,555 – –  57,416 
Surplus on revaluation – – – –  7,303  7,303 
Change in fair value of hedging financial instruments – – –  6,001 –  6,001 

Total comprehensive income for the year  16,002  3,859 37,555  6,001  7,303  70,720 

Reserve transfer –  84  (84) – – –

Balance at 31 July 2025  340,849  36,445  920,334  (1,117)  443,227  1,739,738 

Income and expenditure account  Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

 Revaluation 
reserve

Total

University  Endowment
 £000

 Restricted
£000

 Unrestricted
£000 

 
£000

 
£000 £000 

Balance at 1 August 2023  300,982  20,034  568,213 –  433,595  1,322,824 

Surplus for the year  23,865  12,293  316,735 – –  352,893 

Surplus on revaluation – – – –  2,329  2,329 

Change in fair value of hedging financial instruments – – –  (7,118) –  (7,118)

Total comprehensive income for the year  23,865  12,293  316,735  (7,118)  2,329  348,104 

Reserve transfer –  175  (175) – – –

Balance at 1 August 2024  324,847  32,502  884,773  (7,118)  435,924  1,670,928 

Surplus for the year  16,002  3,859 37,503 – –  57,364 

Surplus on revaluation – – – –  7,303  7,303 

Change in fair value of hedging financial instruments – – –  6,001 –  6,001 

Total comprehensive income for the year  16,002  3,859  37,503  6,001  7,303  70,668 

Reserve transfer –  84  (84) – – –

Balance at 31 July 2025  340,849  36,445  922,192  (1,117)  443,227  1,741,596 

Consolidated and University  
statement of changes in reserves
For the year ended 31 July 2025
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Consolidated University

 Note  2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Non-current assets

Intangible assets  14  34,164  37,782  34,164  37,782 

Tangible assets  15  1,637,658  1,584,999  1,639,342  1,586,880 

Investments  17  57,102  58,166  57,102  58,166 

Endowment investments  18  340,849  324,847  340,849  324,847 

Investment in joint venture  17  2,832  2,832  2,832  2,832 

 2,072,605  2,008,626  2,074,289  2,010,507 

Current assets

Trade and other debtors due within 1 year  19  187,877  190,057  188,947  189,796 

Investments  20  70,000  60,000  70,000  60,000 

Cash and cash equivalents  251,226  263,390  248,689  261,883 

 509,103  513,447  507,636  511,679 

Less: creditors: amounts falling due within one year  21 (430,337)  (428,677) (428,696)  (426,880)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 78,766  84,770 78,940  84,799 

Total assets less current liabilities  2,151,371  2,093,396  2,153,229  2,095,306 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  22  (406,683)  (419,428)  (406,683)  (419,428)

Provisions

Other provisions  24  (4,950)  (4,950)  (4,950)  (4,950)

Total net assets  1,739,738  1,669,018  1,741,596  1,670,928 

Restricted reserves

Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve  26  340,849  324,847  340,849  324,847 

Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve  25  36,445  32,502  36,445  32,502 

Unrestricted reserves

Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted  27  920,334  882,863  922,192  884,773 

Revaluation reserve  443,227  435,924  443,227  435,924 

Cash flow hedge reserve  (1,117)  (7,118)  (1,117)  (7,118)

Total reserves  1,739,738  1,669,018  1,741,596  1,670,928 

The financial statements on pages 33 to 64 were approved by the Council on 24 November 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Lord Stevens of Birmingham, Kt. 
Chair of Council

Professor Shitij Kapur  
Vice-Chancellor & President

Mr Stephan Weiner 
Treasurer 

Consolidated and University  
balance sheets
As at 31 July 2025
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Note  2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  57,416  352,952 

Adjustment for non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation  14, 15  69,746  60,587 
Loss on property investment  17  297  711 
Gain on endowment investments  18  (17,746)  (25,658)

(Increase)/Decrease in debtors  2,180  (7,299)
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors (excluding debt repayable in less than 1 year) 990  (1,229)

(Decrease) in lease premium on development property  (870)  (869)
Write down in value of investments  17  800  800 
Increase/(Decrease) in pension provisions  –  (338,543)
Increase/(Decrease) in other provisions 24 – –

Adjustment for investing or financing activities

Investment income  6  (22,245)  (26,801)
Interest payable  11  14,942  23,006 

Endowment income  7  (1,909)  (1,773)
Disposal of tangible assets  1,245  529 
Capital grant income  2, 7  (27,820)  (12,477)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 77,026  23,936 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of endowment asset investments  18  50,985  30,625 
Capital grants receipts  2, 7  27,820  12,477 
Investment income  6  22,245  26,801 
Payments made to acquire fixed assets  (112,730)  (100,717)
Change in non-current asset investments  17  (33)  (16)
New non-current endowment asset investments  18  (55,826)  (17,661)
Endowment asset investments change in cash balances  18  6,585  (11,171)
New current asset investment  20  (10,000)  (60,000)
Investment in joint venture – –

(70,954)  (119,662)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid  (14,879)  (15,420)
Endowment cash received  7  1,909  1,773 
Repayments of amounts borrowed  (5,266)  (4,656)

 (18,236)  (18,303)

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year  (12,164)  (114,029)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  263,390  377,419 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  251,226  263,390 

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year  (12,164)  (114,029)

Consolidated statement  
of cash flows
For the year ended 31 July 2025
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1. Tuition fees and education contracts
Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Full-time students charged home fees  187,248  177,594 
Full-time students charged overseas fees  414,456  347,277 
NHS contracted student fees  8,695  8,398 
Part-time fees  35,176  38,228 
Special and short course fees  49,153  42,444 
Research Studentship and support grants 17,011  16,556 

 711,739  630,497 

2. Funding body grants
Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Funding body teaching grants  36,826  38,930 
Funding body research grants  82,053  81,869 
Other funding body grants  10,046  11,645 
Funding body capital grants  27,820  12,477 

 156,745  144,921 

3. Research grants and contracts
Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Research Councils  78,231  69,528 
UK central government, local authorities, health and hospital authorities  61,142  57,247 
UK industry, commerce and public corporations  9,515  14,583 
UK charitable bodies  60,628  58,063 
EU government  10,450  19,355 
EU Charities, Industry and Other  6,354  5,957 
Overseas non EU  31,361  29,762 
Other UK Sources  2,748  2,363 
Other  37  25 

 260,466  256,883 

4. Other income
Consolidated University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Academic departments costs reimbursed by NHS  16,414  14,972  16,414  14,972 
Clinical excellence awards reimbursed by NHS  5,815  5,562  5,815  5,562 
Residences, catering and conferences  84,283  74,503  84,283  74,503 
Services rendered to NHS and related bodies  28,297  24,154  28,297  24,154 
Gift aid payments from subsidiaries – –  319  1,110 
Consultancy  27,187  21,896  27,248  21,925 
Royalties  1,310  1,630  1,310  1,630 
Commercial rental income  8,638  7,274  8,638  7,274 
Other income  36,434  36,871  36,362  36,802 

 208,378  186,862  208,686  187,932 

Notes to the accounts
For the year ended 31 July 2025
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5. Grant and fee income
The below table is provided in line with the requirements of the Office for Students’ Accounts Direction and summarises the grant and 
fee income of the University by the nature and source of that income. All income included in the table is also included in notes 1 to 4.

Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Grant income from the OfS  39,341  40,185 
Grant income from other bodies  195,494  174,264 
Fee income for research awards (exclusive of VAT)  16,927  16,556 
Fee income from non-qualifying courses (exclusive of VAT)  49,273  42,476 
Fee income for taught awards (exclusive of VAT)  645,538  571,464 

 946,573  844,945 

6. Investment income
Consolidated University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Income on restricted permanent endowments (note 26)  2,947  3,095  2,947  3,095 
Income on restricted expendable endowments (note 26)  340  379  340  379 
Other interest receivable  18,808  21,972  18,689  21,894 
Other investment income  150  1,355  150  1,355 

 22,245  26,801  22,126  26,723 

7. Donations and endowments
Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Capital grants – –
New endowments (note 26)  1,909  1,773 
Donations with restrictions  13,633  18,950 
Unrestricted donations  1,527  2,981 

 17,069  23,704 

8. Staff
Consolidated University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Staff costs:

Wages and salaries  602,394  556,359  590,130  545,351 
Redundancy payments  3,602  2,911  3,546  2,906 
Social security costs  73,804  59,198  72,326  57,956 
Pension contributions relating to current year service (note 30)  84,406  79,821  83,581  79,081 
Permanently employed  764,206  698,289  749,583  685,294 

Agency and contract staff costs  36,455  41,979  37,356  43,785 
Staff costs (excluding pension provision)  800,661  740,268  786,939  729,079 

Movement on USS pension provision –  (329,866) –  (329,866)
Staff costs  800,661  410,402  786,939  399,213 

Notes to the accounts For the year ended 31 July 2025
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8. Staff costs (continued)
Agency and contract staff costs include amounts charged by third parties, including NHS Trusts, for contractors and job holders who 
are not directly employed by the University.

Redundancy payments have been made to 327 individuals as compensation for loss of office during 2024-25 (2023-24 318 individuals).	
		

 2024-25  2023-24 

Average number of directly employed staff, expressed as full-time equivalents:

Academic/clinical, including research contract staff 4,669 4,590
Administrative and related staff 3,941 3,669
Technical 474 431
Cleaning and security 476 390
Other 156 122

9,716 9,202

Remuneration of higher paid staff is the full-time equivalent basic annual salary prior to any adjustment for salary sacrifice. The 
number of staff are calculated on a full-time equivalent basis. Staff who joined or left part-way through a year but who would have 
received salary in these bands in a full year are not included. Where a proportion of the salary is directly reimbursed by the NHS, 
research funder, consultancy project or similar, only the portion paid by the University is disclosed.

 2024-25
Total 

Full-time 
equivalent 

2023-24 
Total 

Full-time 
equivalent

£100,000–£104,999  45.2  38.6 

£105,000–£109,999  39.8  35.0 

£110,000–£114,999  67.1  73.4 

£115,000–£119,999  31.7  38.4 

£120,000–£124,999  23.4  30.3 

£125,000–£129,999  38.0  54.6 

£130,000–£134,999  17.1  15.9 

£135,000–£139,999  21.7  13.7 

£140,000–£144,999  58.7  6.3 

£145,000–£149,999  8.6  15.6 

£150,000–£154,999  13.1  7.3 

£155,000–£159,999  9.1  10.7 

£160,000–£164,999  8.9  7.1 

£165,000–£169,999  5.4  3.8 

£170,000–£174,999  5.2  2.3 

£175,000–£179,999  2.2  3.0 

£180,000–£184,999  2.6  5.8 

£185,000–£189,999  4.0  3.0 

£190,000–£194,999  5.0  2.0 

£195,000–£199,999  0.3 –

£200,000–£204,999  0.4  1.6 

 2024-25
Total 

Full-time 
equivalent 

2023-24 
Total 

Full-time 
equivalent

£205,000–£209,999  2.0  2.0 

£210,000–£214,999  3.0  2.7 

£215,000–£219,999  1.0  4.0 

£220,000–£224,999  2.5 –

£225,000–£229,999  2.0 –

£230,000–£234,999  1.0  1.0 

£235,000–£239,999 –  2.8 

£240,000–£244,999  0.8  0.3 

£245,000–£249,999  0.3  1.0 

£250,000–£254,999  0.9 –

£255,000–£259,999 –  1.0 

£260,000–£264,999  1.0 –

£285,000–£289,999 –  0.4 

£295,000-£299,999 – –

£310,000-£314,999 –  1.0 

£325,000–£329,999 –  0.1 

£330,000–£334,999  0.1 –

£345,000–£349,999  0.2 –

£350,000-£354,999  1.0 –

£400,000–£404,999 – –

£410,000–£414,999 –  0.2 

 423.3  384.9 

Notes to the accounts For the year ended 31 July 2025
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8. Staff costs (continued)
The accounts included a total amount of £770k in severance payments (including the cost of additional pension benefits purchased by 
the University) made to eight higher-paid employee in 2024-25, the equivalent payments made in 2023-24 were £504k made to eight 
higher-paid employees.

 2024-25
Number 
of roles 

 2024-25 
£000

 2023–24
Number 
of roles 

 2023–24
£000 

Key management personnel remuneration  9  2,724  9  2,305 

Key Management Personnel comprises the Senior Officers of the University (kcl.ac.uk/aboutkings/principal/seniorofficers) and 
includes the Vice-Chancellor & President.

During the year, there were changes to the composition of key management personnel, which in some cases resulted in transitional 
and overlap arrangements between individuals in the Senior Officer roles. For the purposes of this disclosure, remuneration has been 
presented only for those individuals who were the substantive roleholder and were in attendance at senior leadership meetings during 
the transitional periods. One (2023-24 Nil) payment for compensation for loss of office was paid in 2024-25.

Vice-Chancellor & President’s pay statement.
In April 2019, HMRC announced changes to its interpretation of the relevant legislation that would result in the provision of any 
accommodation associated with employment becoming a taxable benefit from 6 April 2021. The taxable benefit in respect of 
accommodation for the year is derived from the market value of accommodation in line with HMRC’s ‘cost of providing living 
accommodation’ rules. 

During 2023-24. King’s identified, an administrative error, that the tax associated with the current Vice Chancellor’s accommodation 
benefit was not correctly recorded by the University in respect of the 2021-22 and 2022-23 tax years. The Remuneration Committee 
approved a ‘tax equalisation’ approach for the Vice Chancellor to cover the additional costs arising from the tax position in respect of 
previous tax years to recognise that this error was not the fault of the Vice Chancellor and nor was it the intention of the Remuneration 
Committee for the Vice-Chancellor to suffer a significant financial loss as a result of the change in HMRC rules, and applied the same 
treatment to the 2023-24 tax year.

From 1st April 2024, the Vice-Chancellor’s salary was changed to allow him to make the appropriate income tax payments in relation 
to the deemed benefit in kind for his accommodation, and therefore not suffer an ongoing financial loss compared with the intentions of 
Remuneration Committee at the time of his appointment.

 2024-25
£000

2023-24
£000

Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor & President:

Professor Shitij Kapur

Salary  355  313 
Accommodation*  40  40 
Tax on accommodation –  21 

 395  374 

Pension scheme contributions  51 54

 446  428 

 *Figures have been updated to reflect the adoption of a restricted market value in relation to the accommodation benefit, as agreed with 
HMRC.

Notes to the accounts For the year ended 31 July 2025
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8. Staff costs (continued)
Context: King’s is a world-class institution which aspires to the very highest standards of education and research. The University 
is a member of the Russell Group and is one of the world’s leading research-intensive universities with a global reputation for 
excellence. The performance against international measures of academic excellence has seen King’s rise to 31st in the QS World 
Rankings in 2025. The University’s Remuneration Policy for Senior Post Holders, which complies with the guidance issued by 
the Committee of University Chairs, recognises that King’s recruits from a global talent pool in selecting its Vice-Chancellor & 
President and that different pay models operate across universities in countries from which King’s may seek to recruit. The policy 
establishes the set of peer institutions for salary comparison purposes with which King’s is aligned. In 2024, the Remuneration 
Committee engaged Pricewaterhouse Coopers to undertake a benchmarking exercise against Russell Group universities and a wider 
selection of UK universities. Based on this benchmarking exercise, the strength of the University under Professor Kapur’s leadership, 
and acknowledging particularly the change in HMRC policy towards accommodation provided to vice-chancellors leading to a 
significantly higher tax charge which was not anticipated at the time of Professor Kapur’s appointment, there was a revision of salary 
from 1 April 2024. The remuneration shown for 2024-25 reflects the full year effect of this decision, and there has been no further salary 
change between April 2024 and the Balance Sheet date.

Value: Professor Shitij Kapur took office in June 2021. He is an academic psychiatrist, a neuroscientist and an experienced senior 
academic leader. Professor Kapur was previously the Dean and Assistant Vice Chancellor for Health at the University of Melbourne. 
Prior to taking up the role in Melbourne he was Executive Dean of King’s Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience. 

Professor Kapur has led further significant growth in King’s, with income increasing from £1 billion in 2020-21 to £1.38 billion in  
2024-25. The 2024-25 financial performance is strong within the context of significant financial pressures and challenges in the UK 
higher education sector. King’s has been guided by the aims and principles of Strategy 2026 and Vision 2029, and Professor Kapur 
is leading the development of an ambitious Strategy 2030 which will take King’s to 2030-31, enhancing our teaching and research 
and academic standing, increasing our student numbers while improving our financial position to enable significant academic and 
infrastructure investments. Strategy 2030 is already influencing the operations of the University, and will be formally approved and 
published in the first half of 2025-26. In 2024-25, King’s determined to develop Bush House South West Wing, which will create 
the capacity for student and academic staff expansion from 2027-28. The commitment was underpinned by a rigorous financial and 
academic assessment of options, and Council was able to support the decision because of its confidence in Professor Kapur’s leadership 
and the academic direction and financial strength of King’s.

King’s continues to prepare for the 2029 REF with new academic investments, and further plans for 2025-26 and 2026-27. It is 
also pleasing to reflect on a significantly above average improvement in the National Student Survey responses in 2025, but it must 
be emphasised that King’s is committed to further improvements in our students’ academic and general experiences. King’s is also 
committed to the long term career success of our alumni.

Performance review process: Professor Kapur’s performance is reviewed on an annual basis by the Council’s Governance, 
Performance and Remuneration Committee (the successor body to the Remuneration Committee referred to above), which is a 
standing committee of Council, chaired by the Chair of the Council and including in its membership the Vice-Chair of Council 
and three additional independent members of Council. The annual performance review is based on progress toward a set of key 
performance indicators mutually agreed at the beginning of each academic year. 

The relationship between the Vice-Chancellor & President’s remuneration and that for all other employees expressed as a pay multiple 
are:

2024-25
£000

2023-24
£000

Vice-Chancellor & President base pay multiple of median base pay  8.2  7.4 
Vice-Chancellor & President total pay multiple of median total pay excluding 
accommodation and tax on accommodation

 8.2  7.6 

Vice-Chancellor & President total pay multiple of median total pay  9.0  8.9 

As per the guidance from the Office for Students included within the calculation are only staff for whom the University are required 
to provide real time reporting to HMRC. The calculation of the medians includes staff employed through King’s Talent Bank Ltd, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the University.

Methodology: Full time equivalent (FTE) pay is calculated by summing relevant pay types and the percentage of FTE worked over 
the year (August 2024 to July 2025) and pro-rating up to 100% to give everyone an FTE equivalent salary. Data includes individuals 
employed by King’s College London, King’s College London Business Ltd and King’s Talent Bank Ltd.
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9. Access and participation
Consolidated and University

2024-25
£000 

 Of which 
staff costs 

(note 8) 

 2023-24
£000 

 Of which 
staff costs 

(note 8) 

Access Investment  2,862  1,554  3,038  1,744 
Financial Support  8,771  –  9,398 –
Disability Support  1,163  1,004  1,018  956 
Research and Evaluation  379  356  274  243 

 13,175  2,914  13,728  2,943 

We are committed to supporting students to access a King’s education regardless of background, to succeed while they are with us and 
progress to the best outcomes. It is a core part of our Vision 2029 mission to deliver social mobility and of Strategy 2026. It is in our 
students’, King’s and society’s best interests. 

In 2024 we had a new Access & Participation Plan approved by the Office for Students to cover 2025-26 – 2028-29. This includes bold 
new objectives and targets for access and student success, and will form the basis of our investment and planning in the final approach 
to Vision 2029, and inform the planning of our onward strategy. As such, 2024-25 was the final year of our current Access  
& Participation Plan, which was informed by three central objectives. 

Access
We invested £2,861,767 in Access activity. In 2024-25 we configured aspects of our programme to widen the applicant pool, engage 
more directly with all our faculties and increase the number of students on our programmes. Our flagship K+ programme for year 12 
and 13 students aims to improve participants’ access to top universities. We have grown K+ to now engage 700+ students per year 
and expanded our geographic reach, piloting in new areas and seeing a threefold increase in applications. We continue to innovate to 
establish impact, continuing our K+ randomised controlled trial and launching an RCT of our Medicine & Dentistry Lecture Series. 

Our programmes with Key Stage 2-4 learners (Step Up Scholars, King’s Scholars and Scholars+) saw over 700 participants and parents 
on campus and in local schools and we had early indications of positive impact on attainment. The average Attainment 8 score for 
King’s Scholars participants continues to be significantly higher than the local authority average. 

We have increased applications and enrolments to King’s of our target students, while maintaining quality. We achieved this while 
expanding on our commitment to be effective both locally and nationally. The Medicine & Dentistry Lecture series had over 5,000 
participants from across all regions of the UK. One in five schools in England submitted applications. We also launched a pilot teachers’ 
CPD conference with teachers from across United Learning schools, the largest multi academy trust in the country. 		

Financial support
We invested £8,770,556 in financial support in 2024-25. Financial support was more critical than ever. Ongoing economic pressures have 
a disproportionate impact on students from less well-off backgrounds. In 2024-25, following a series of years with increasing numbers of 
eligible students due to the increased intake and impacts of covid, the amount spent on financial support reduced slightly, resettling at 
closer to pre-pandemic levels. We continued our Sanctuary Scholarships for forced migrants and displaced students. 

Disability Support
We invested £1,163,282 in support for disabled students. Students were most likely to report a learning difficulty or a mental health 
condition. In 2024-25 we continued to deliver our provision to support our students in line with our commitments in the Universities 
UK / Student Minds University Mental Health Charter Award. 

Research and Evaluation
We invested £379,149 on research and evaluation of activity in 2024-25. The What Works unit within the Social Mobility & Widening 
Participation department delivered this. The team supported departments to build evidence, develop research and conduct evaluation. 
What Works also conducted research trialled interventions to improve student engagement. This included our academically validated 
survey on students’ mental health and wellbeing. Over the course of 2024-25 the team delivered 15 evaluation and research projects, 
contributed to five conferences and dissemination events, have an academic article in first review. 

Please refer to King’s College London’s commitments to Access & Participation here: kcl.ac.uk/study/undergraduate/how-to-apply/
ofs-access-participation-plan
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10. Trustees
The trustees are the members of Council, which is the supreme governing body of the University established under the Charter and 
Statutes. Membership of Council comprises a mixture of independent (lay) members, staff members, and the President of the King’s 
College London Students’ Union.

No member of Council receives remuneration in respect of his or her duties of Council. No expenses were paid to or on behalf of any 
members (2024 – one, £5,961) in respect of their Council duties.

11. Interest and other finance costs
Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

Bank and other loans wholly repayable within five years  1,647  2,125 
Loans not wholly repayable within five years  13,295  13,310 
Net charge on pension schemes –  7,571 

 14,942  23,006 

12. Analysis of total expenditure by activity
Consolidated University

 Staff costs 
£000 

 Other 
operating 

expenditure 
£000 

 Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
£000 

 Interest and 
other finance 

costs 
£000 

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000

Academic departments  437,864  76,266  3,843 –  517,973  479,127  517,973  479,127 

Academic services  56,281  27,210  10,033 –  93,524  111,312  93,524  111,312 
Central administration  
and services

 74,184  45,210  1,485 –  120,879  102,900  121,129  103,962 

General education 
expenditure

 17,521  64,007  26 –  81,554  78,757  81,554  78,757 

Staff and student facilities  21,010  16,207  499 –  37,716  34,180  37,716  34,180 
Premises  50,479  83,571  49,888 –  183,938  177,687  183,938  177,687 
Residence and catering 
operations

 11,937  76,882  935  4,334  94,088  85,788  94,088  85,788 

Research grants and 
contracts

 131,306  61,893  3,037 –  196,236  192,734  196,236  192,734 

Pension provision costs – – – – –  (330,972) –  (330,972)
Other costs  79  223 –  10,608  10,910  11,453  10,910  11,452 
Total expenditure  800,661  451,469  69,746  14,942  1,336,818  942,966  1,337,068  944,027 

Cost reimbursed by NHS Trusts
Included in the University’s expenditure the following costs were reimbursed by the NHS Trusts which form the King’s Health 
Partnership, and other NHS Trusts the University provides services to.

Consolidated University

 Staff costs 
£000 

 Other 
operating 

expenditure 
£000 

 Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
£000 

 Interest and 
other finance 

costs 
£000 

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24
£000

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24
£000

Academic departments – 
costs reimbursed by NHS

 15,865  (7) – –  15,858  14,086  15,858  14,086 

Academic departments – 
clinical excellence awards

 5,707 – – –  5,707  5,622  5,707  5,622 

Academic departments – 
services rendered to NHS

 7,882  7,618  939 –  16,439  10,317  16,439  10,317 

Central administration and 
services

 484 – – –  484  663  484  663 

 29,938  7,611  939 –  38,488  30,688  38,488  30,688 
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12. Analysis of total expenditure by activity (continued)
Auditor’s remuneration Consolidated

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24
£000 

External auditors’ remuneration in respect of audit services:

University financial statements  305  296 
Subsidiary financial statements  25  24 
US GAAP financial statements  40 –
US Loans and NCTL certifications  22  15 

 392  335 

External auditors’ remuneration in respect of non-audit services:

Corporation and other Tax  25  25 

Total remuneration paid to external auditors  417  360 

Consolidated

 2024-25
£000 

 2023-24 
£000

Other operating expenses include:

Operating lease rentals:
•	land and buildings  76,374  79,722 
•	other  20  20 

13. Taxation
Consolidated University

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24 
£000

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24 
£000

Current tax

Current tax expense  (111)  10  (120) –
Adjustment in respect of previous years – – – –
Total Tax Expense  (111)  10  (120) –

Factors effecting the tax charge

Surplus before taxation 57,305  352,962 57,244  352,893 

UK corporation tax at 25%  14,326  88,241  14,311  88,223 
Surplus falling within charitable exemption  (14,326)  (88,241)  (14,311)  (88,223)

Museum and Galleries Exhibition Tax Credit (MGETR)  (120) –  (120) –

Other differences attributable to subsidiaries  9  10 – –

Adjustment in respect of previous years – – – –
Total Tax Expense  (111)  10  (120) –

The Council does not believe that the University is liable for any additional corporation tax arising out of its activities during the year.
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14. Intangible assets
Consolidated and University

IT Systems
£000

Assets in the 
course of 

construction
£000

Total
£000

Cost

At 1 August 2024  55,994  10,900  66,894 
Transfers  1,568  (1,568) –
Additions  751  5,486  6,237 
Disposals –  (1,231)  (1,231)
At 31 July 2025  58,313  13,587  71,900 

Amortisation

At 1 August 2024  (29,112) –  (29,112)
Charge for the year  (8,624) –  (8,624)
Eliminated on disposals – – –
At 31 July 2025  (37,736) – (37,736)

Net book value

At 1 August 2024  26,882  10,900  37,782 

At 31 July 2025  20,577  13,587  34,164 

15. Tangible assets
Consolidated Freehold Leasehold

Land and 
buildings

£000
Plant
£000

Furniture and 
equipment

£000

Leased 
equipment

£000

Assets in the 
course of 

construction
£000

Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings
£000

Cost

At 1 August 2024  529,585  478,198  596,148  316,436  276,461  21,733  68,380  2,286,941 
Additions –  208  741  8,522  26,282 –  70,739  106,492 
Revaluation adjustment  7,303 – – – – –  7,303 
Transfers – –  679  27,918  10,467 –  (39,064) –
Disposals – – – –  (607) –  (14)  (621)
At 31 July 2025  536,888  478,406  597,568  352,876  312,603  21,733  100,041  2,400,115 

Depreciation

At 1 August 2024 –  (128,403)  (208,427)  (124,241)  (219,138)  (21,733) –  (701,942)
Charge for year –  (7,650)  (12,698)  (20,433)  (20,341) –  (61,122)
Disposals – – – –  607 – –  607 
At 31 July 2025 –  (136,053)  (221,125)  (144,674)  (238,872)  (21,733) –  (762,457)

Net book value

At 1 August 2024  529,585  349,795  387,721  192,195  57,323 –  68,380  1,584,999 

At 31 July 2025  536,888  342,353  376,443  208,202  73,731 –  100,041  1,637,658 
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15. Tangible assets (continued)
University Freehold Leasehold

Land and 
buildings

£000
Plant
£000

Furniture and 
equipment

£000

Leased 
equipment

£000

Assets in the 
course of 

construction
£000

Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings
£000

Cost

At 1 August 2024  529,585  479,271  597,119  316,289  276,169  21,733  68,380  2,288,546 
Additions –  208  741  8,337  26,282 –  70,739  106,307 
Revaluation adjustment  7,303 – – – – – –  7,303 
Transfers – –  679  27,918  10,467 –  (39,064) –
Disposals – – – –  (607) –  (14)  (621)
At 31 July 2025  536,888  479,479  598,539  352,544  312,311  21,733  100,041  2,401,535 

Depreciation

At 1 August 2024 –  (128,529)  (208,544)  (124,012)  (218,848)  (21,733) –  (701,666)
Charge for year –  (7,672)  (12,717)  (20,404)  (20,341) – –  (61,134)
Eliminated on disposals – – – –  607 – –  607 
Impairment – – – – – – – –
At 31 July 2025 –  (136,201)  (221,261)  (144,416)  (238,582)  (21,733) –  (762,193)

Net book value

At 1 August 2024  529,585  350,742  388,575  192,277  57,321 –  68,380  1,586,880 

At 31 July 2025  536,888  343,278  377,278  208,128  73,729 –  100,041  1,639,342 

In 2019-20 the University adopted a policy of revaluing freehold land to fair value. The University believes that the fair value better 
reflects the true value of the University’s freehold land assets.

Freehold land was revalued to fair value as at 31 July 2025 by an independent Chartered Surveyor, Newmark, in accordance with the 
RICS Valuation – Global Standards (January 2020 edition, updated January 2022) and FRS 102. The fair value of land is based on 
either open market value (operational assets) or depreciated replacement cost (specialised assets). Freehold land values are assessed 
annually for material changes in their values from market changes.

If a revaluation policy had not been adopted for freehold land it would have a net book value of £93,661k.

Included within leasehold land and buildings are a number of properties that are shared with third parties where title documentation 
may not exist at the present time. The net book value of these is £47,696k (2024: £49,529k).

16. Heritage assets
Heritage assets include a unique, internationally significant and continually expanding range of archival and printed sources, exhibits 
and pictures. These resources are available for use by the staff and students of King’s, the wider academic community and any 
member of the public who has an interest in the University’s holdings. Items may be acquired by gift, bequest, exchange or purchase 
on the open market.

King’s aims to preserve all material in perpetuity in its original format. Surrogate copies may be created for dissemination, or where 
items are of exceptional rarity or delicacy. All preservation and conservation costs are charged to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account.

The principal collections are:

Archives
These comprise not only the archives of the University, but also those of organisations that it has founded or with which it has 
merged. Additionally, they contain the research papers of former staff and students, including Maurice Wilkins, Eric Mottram and Sir 
Charles Wheatstone.

The Liddell Hart Centre for Military Archives is a leading repository for research into modern defence policy in Britain. Private 
papers of over 700 senior defence personnel who held office from 1900 onwards form the core of this collection.

The archives consist of some five million documents.
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16. Heritage assets (continued)

Special Collections
The Foyle Special Collections Library houses maps, slides, sound recordings and manuscripts as well as over 150,000 printed works. 
Ranging in date from the fifteenth century to the present day and covering all subject areas, the collections are particularly strong in 
medicine, science, voyages and travels, the history of Greece and the Eastern Mediterranean, European military and diplomatic history, 
the history of the British Empire, twentieth-century Germany and Jewish and Christian theology.

The largest section, the FCO Historical Collection, comprises material from the former library of the Foreign & Commonwealth 
Office, transferred to King’s in 2007, and contains over 60,000 items. Topics it covers in depth include: exploration, discovery and 
travel; war and cold war; diplomacy and peace-keeping; the growth, rule and decline of empires; colonial emigration and settlement; 
the growth and abolition of the Atlantic slave trade; trade, transport and communication; and anthropology and natural history. 
Although held by the University, this collection is owned by a separate company, King’s College Foreign & Commonwealth Office 
Library Ltd, which is independent of the University.

Gordon Museum
The Gordon Museum has a large and growing teaching collection of approximately 8,000 pathological specimens with specialised 
sub-areas on such subjects as Forensic Medicine and HIV/AIDS. It also houses a number of important historic collections: the Joseph 
Towne anatomical and dermatological wax models, the Lam Qua paintings, and specimens and artefacts acquired by Thomas 
Hodgkin, Thomas Addison, Richard Bright and Sir Astley Cooper.

King George III Collection
This collection of eighteenth-century scientific apparatus is on loan to the Science Museum. It consists of equipment assembled during 
the 1750s by the natural scientist and astronomer Stephen Demainbray for use in public lectures and apparatus commissioned in 1761 
by King George III from the instrument maker George Adams for the entertainment and instruction of the royal family

Further information on all of these collections is available on the University website, kcl.ac.uk

No heritage assets were capitalised during the year as none exceeded the capitalisation threshold of £50,000. Earlier acquisitions are 
not capitalised because cost or acquisition values are unavailable for the majority of the assets and the benefit of a professional valuation 
would be outweighed by the related costs. Any valuation would necessarily be imprecise and prey to changing fashions and fluctuating 
market trends due to the unique nature of the assets.

17. Investments
Consolidated and University

 Investment 
property 

£000

Francis Crick 
Institute 

£000 

 Other 
investments

£000

 Total 
2025
£000

 Total 
2024
£000

At 1 August 2024 22,988  33,600  1,578 58,166  59,661 
Additions – –  33 33  16 
Impairment  (297)  (800) –  (1,097)  (1,511)
At 31 July 2025 22,691  32,800  1,611  57,102  58,166 

Subsidiary undertakings

Entity Nature of activity Nature of entity Relationship with University  Interest

King's Talent Bank Ltd Employment agency Company limited by shares Wholly owned subsidiary 100%

King's College London  
Business Ltd

Provision of Information technology 
support 

Company limited by shares Wholly owned subsidiary 100%

College Facilities Ltd Facilities management Company limited by shares Wholly owned subsidiary 100%

KCL Ventures Ltd Dormant Company limited by shares Wholly owned subsidiary 100%

All subsidiaries and associated undertakings are incorporated in England and Wales and prepare accounts to 31 July each year.  
The total value of capital invested in subsidiary undertakings is £4 (2023-24 £4).
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17. Investments (continued)

Joint ventures

Consolidated and University

 KHP MedTeach  
Innovations Ltd 

£000

TEDI-London 
£000 

 Total 
2025
£000

 Total 
2024
£000

At 1 August  2,832 –  2,832  2,832 
Additions – – – –
At 31 July  2,832 –  2,832  2,832 

Entity Nature of activity Nature of entity Relationship with University  Interest

TEDI-London Tertiary education Company limited by guarantee Joint venture (until 4 June 2025) 33%

KHP MedTech Innovations Ltd Commercialisation of innovation Company limited by shares Joint venture 		  40%

TEDI-London was a joint venture between King’s College London, the University of New South Wales, and Arizona State University 
to set up a new provider of higher education in the field of engineering, with a focus on attracting and empowering students and 
partners from diverse backgrounds and perspectives. The company was incorporated in 2019 in England and Wales and is limited  
by guarantee with each venturer being a one third member of the guarantee, and with the right to appoint one third of the company’s 
directors. King’s College London’s share of the guarantee was £10 until 4 June 2025 when King’s College London ceased to be a 
shareholder of the company.

For the purposes of the preparation of these financial statements TEDI-London represented a jointly controlled entity, and has been 
accounted for under the equity method as per section 15 of FRS 102, with the University recognising its share of the net assets and 
annual surplus of the company up until King’s College London’s retirement from the company on 4 June 2025. At this point the 
company was in a net liability position, in line with section 15 of FRS 102 the University has not recognised TEDI-London within 
these financial statements as its share of the company was worth less than its original investment.

KHP MedTech Innovations Ltd is a joint venture of the King’s Health Partners (King’s College London, Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS 
Foundation Trust, King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust) to form a company for the purposes of commercialising medical 
technology innovation. The company was incorporated on 25 January 2021 and the University subscribed for its shareholdings on 12 
April 2021. As at KHP MedTech Innovations Ltd third year end (31 March 2025), it had incurred a loss not material to King’s College 
London as it is still in its start-up phase, for this reason the investment continues to be held at the initial investment value rather than 
the University’s share of the net assets of the company.

Other unconsolidated undertakings

Entity Nature of activity Nature of entity Relationship with University  Interest

The Francis Crick Institute Ltd Biomedical research Company limited by shares Investment 17%

Rosalind Franklin Institute Health research Company limited by guarantee Investment 9%

The Francis Crick Institute is a partnership between five scientific institutions and the University. Established as a charity, it is a 
research centre in biomedical science.

The Rosalind Franklin Institute is a partnership between 12 universities, research funders and research facilities, forming a national 
research institute, dedicated to developing new technologies to tackle important health research challenges.
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18. Endowment investments

Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24 
£000

Balance at 1 August  324,847  300,982 
Additions  55,826  17,661 
Disposals  (50,985)  (30,625)
Appreciation/(Depreciation)  17,746  25,658 
Increase/(decrease) in cash balances  (6,585)  11,171 
Balance at 31 July  340,849  324,847 

Fixed interest stocks  43,385  38,484 
Equities  269,713  252,027 

Bank balances  27,751  34,336 

340,849  324,847

Fixed interest and equities at cost  236,723  212,378 

19. Trade and other debtors
Consolidated University

 2025
£000

 2024
£000

 2025
£000

 2024 
£000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors  39,593  31,238  39,593  31,238 
Other debtors  9,776  6,974  9,757  6,973 
Research grant debtors  19,000  17,844  19,000  17,844 
Research grant work in progress  60,751  72,177  60,751  72,177 
Prepayments and accrued income  58,757  61,824  58,512  60,562 
Amounts owed by group undertakings – –  1,334  1,002 

 187,877  190,057  188,947  189,796 

The amounts disclosed above for trade debtors, other debtors and research grant debtors are net of allowances for bad and doubtful 
debts.

20. Current investments
Consolidated University

 2025
£000

 2024 
£000

 2025
£000

 2024 
£000

Short term deposits  70,000  60,000  70,000  60,000 
 70,000  60,000  70,000  60,000 

Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Conduct Authority. 
These short term deposits do not meet the definition of cash equivalent. The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for the duration 
of the deposit at time of placement.

At 31 July 2025 the weighted average interest rate of these fixed rate deposits was 4.78% per annum and the remaining weighted 
average period for which the interest rate is fixed on these deposits was 165 days. The fair value of these deposits was not materially 
different from the book value
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21. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Consolidated University

 2025
£000

 2024 
£000

 2025
£000

 2024 
£000

Trade creditors  22,354  17,316  22,327  17,287 
Deferred income  242,612  246,548  242,612  246,252 
Other creditors and accruals  125,472  130,298  124,979  129,680 
Holiday pay accrual  17,082  14,652  16,253  14,124 
Social security and other taxation payable  16,881  14,597  16,154  14,044 
Amounts owed to group undertakings – –  435  227 
Current element of long-term liabilities (note 23)  5,936  5,266  5,936  5,266 

 430,337  428,677  428,696  426,880 

Deferred income includes the following items of income which have been deferred until specific performance related-conditions have 
been met;

Consolidated University

 2025
£000

 2024
£000

 2025
£000

 2024
£000

Research grants received on account  145,247  142,053  145,247  142,053 
Other income  45,114  48,204  45,114  47,908 
Donations  9,946  15,500  9,946  15,500 
Tuition fees  39,938  38,401  39,938  38,401 
Other deposits  2,367  2,390  2,367  2,390 

 242,612  246,548  242,612  246,252 

22. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Consolidated and University

 2025
£000

 2024
£000

Loans (note 23)  391,221  397,095 

Long-term borrowings  391,221  397,095 

Lease premium on investment property  14,345  15,215 

Derivatives  1,117  7,118 
Long-term creditors  406,683  419,428 

Loans totalling £14,509k are secured on a portion of the freehold land and buildings of the University.

The University holds a derivative instrument (interest rate swap) on its borrowings to convert its floating rate debt to fixed rate in order 
to hedge against any interest-rate changes. The fair value of the derivative instrument (hedging instrument) at 31 July 2025 was £1.1m 
(2023/24: £7.1m). The change in fair value of the hedging instrument during the financial year of £6m favourable (2023/24: £7.1m 
unfavourable) is shown within the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The lease premium on investment property arises from the granting of a lease by King’s for a term of 99 years with a yearly peppercorn 
rent. The lease has a break clause after 25 years, over which period the lease premium is being released to income.
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23. Borrowings
Consolidated and University

Loans

 2025
£000

 2024
£000

Obligations under loans are repayable as follows:

Between one and two years  6,688  5,935 
Between two and five years  1,885  8,573 
Total between one and five years  8,573  14,508 
Over five years  382,648  382,587 
Total over one year (note 22)  391,221  397,095 

Within one year (note 21)  5,936  5,266 
 397,157  402,361 

Date of issue £ Amount Interest rate, due date and issue notes*

27 April 2001 The University issued £60m Senior Notes (Notes). Fixed interest rate of 6.22%. Principle amount repayable on 27th April 
2031. Interest payments are semi-annual on 27 April and 27 October.

*The University at its option, may prepay at any time all or part of the Notes, in an amount not less than 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then 
outstanding, at 100% of the principal amount so prepaid, plus the discounted value of the remaining scheduled payments with respect to the principal amount. 
As at the year end, it is the University’s intention to hold the Notes until its final maturity date.

Date of issue £ Amount Interest rate and due date

16 May 2008 The University received a £60m unsecured loan with an integral swap 
agreement.

The integral swap agreement was established so the expected cash 
flows match the terms of the loan and so results in effectively fixed 
rate borrowing over the life of the loan of 4.855%. The loan is repayable 
on 16 May 2048.

21 May 2015 The University issued £55m of senior unsecured notes. Fixed interest rate of 2.85%, due 21 May 2035.

21 May 2015 The University issued £60m of senior unsecured notes. Fixed interest rate of 3.03%, due 21 May 2040.

21 May 2015 The University issued £20m of senior unsecured notes. Fixed interest rate of 3.08%, due 21 May 2050.

16 June 2021 The University issued £37m of senior sustainable notes 2021. Fixed interest rate of 2.07%, due 16 June 2061.

16 June 2021 The University issued £40m of senior sustainable notes 2021. Fixed interest rate of 2.11%, due 16 June 2066.

16 June 2021 The University issued £28m of senior sustainable notes 2021. Fixed interest rate of 2.12%, due 16 June 2071.

16 March 2022 The University issued £20m of senior sustainable notes 2022. Fixed interest rate of 2.08% due 16 March 2050.

24. Other provisions
Consolidated and University

Leasehold dilapidations

£000

At 1 August 2024  4,950 
Utilised in year –
Transferred from Income and Expenditure Account during the year –
At 31 July 2025  4,950 

As explained in the Statement of Principal Accounting Policies, no provision has been made for the deferred tax on the grounds that 
the subsidiary companies transfer their taxable profits by gift aid to the University and therefore no deferred tax assets or liability will 
be realised.
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25. Restricted reserves
Consolidated and University

2025
Total
£000

2024 
Total
£000

At 1 August  32,502  20,034 

Income  22,694  30,613 
Expenditure  (18,835)  (18,320)
Net restricted income for the year  3,859  12,293 

Transfer from/(to) unrestricted reserves  84  175 

At 31 July  36,445  32,502 

26. Endowment reserves
Consolidated and University

Restricted permanent Restricted 
expendble

Total
£000

 2024-25 
Total
£000

 2023-24
Total
£000

Original  
gift

£000

Unapplied  
total return

£000
Total
£000

Capital at 1 August  97,161  189,532  286,693  38,154  324,847  300,982 
New donations and endowments  1,317 –  1,317  592  1,909  1,773 
Change in market value of endowment investments –  15,693  15,693  2,053  17,746  25,658 
Investment income –  2,947  2,947  340  3,287  3,474 
Expenditure –  (5,930)  (5,930)  (1,010)  (6,940)  (7,040)
At 31 July  98,478  202,242  300,720  40,129  340,849  324,847 

Represented by:
Capital  98,478  185,311  283,789  37,610  321,399  306,338 
Accumulated income –  16,931  16,931  2,519  19,450  18,509 

 98,478  202,242  300,720  40,129  340,849  324,847 

The University has adopted a total return endowment investment management policy for permanent endowments following receipt of 
an order from the Charity Commission under Section 105 of the Charities Act 2011.

Following advice from its investment consultants, Cambridge Associates, the University’s Investment subcommittee has adopted a 
total return spending rate of 4% using the trailing market value rule applied to the average ending portfolio value over the previous 12 
quarters. There is a proviso that this spending rate will be reviewed annually in the case of abnormal market conditions such as high 
levels of inflation or if there was a fundamental change to the portfolio composition.

.
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26. Endowment reserves (continued)
At 1 August 

2024
£000

Additions and 
transfers

£000

Change in 
market value

£000

Total return 
income

£000
Expenditure

£000

At 31 July 
2025
£000

Funds with a balance under £5,000,000

Chairs and lectureships (174 funds)  126,551  810  3,677  5,012  (3,353)  132,697 
Scholarships (163 funds)  41,229  203  1,191  1,453  (473)  43,603 
Other funds (68 funds)  23,894  896  670  777  (257)  25,980 
Prize funds (260 funds)  14,411 –  408  465  (11)  15,273 

Funds with a balance over £5,000,000

Newland-Pedley General Fund  24,362 –  703  801  (447)  25,419 
Lau China Institute Donation  13,664 –  402  457  (411)  14,112 
Dimbleby Endowment Fund  12,592 –  374  426  (230)  13,162 
Yeoh Tiong Lay Centre Donation  8,883 –  268  305  (296)  9,160 
Richard Dickinson USA Fund  8,593 –  240  274  (54)  9,053 
The Joan Reece Chair in Immuno-Oncology  8,200 –  234  267  (42)  8,659 
Lacey Travelling Bursaries  5,673 –  171  195 –  6,039 
Chair in Translational Neurodevelopment  6,215 –  157  179  (576)  5,975 
Herbert Dunhill Chair of Rehabilitation  5,472 –  162  184  (140)  5,678 
Avantha Chair  5,256 –  156  178  (162)  5,428 
Paediatric Research Unit Lectureship  5,097 –  153  174  (149)  5,275 
Dunhill Chair Cutaneous Medicine  5,044 –  151  172  (158)  5,209 
R Dickinson Trust (General)  4,799 –  135  154 –  5,088 
The Pulmonary Pharmacology Endowment Fund  4,912 –  144  164  (181)  5,039 

Total return from capital gains – –  8,350  (8,350) – –
 324,847  1,909  17,746  3,287  (6,940)  340,849 

The purpose of the funds with a balance over £5,000,000 are as follows:

The Newland-Pedley Fund is used to support the Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Sciences. 

The Dimbleby Endowment Fund is used for cancer research.

The Lau China Institute Donation supports academic posts in the Lau China Institute. 

The Yeoh Tiong Lay Centre donation supports academic posts in the Yeoh Tiong Lay Centre for Politics, Philosophy and Law.

The Richard Dickinson USA Fund is used for research and training fellowships in dentistry.

The Joan Reece Chair supports a post in Immuno-Oncology.

The Chair in Translational Neurodevelopment supports a post.

The Herbert Dunhill Chair supports a post in rehabilitation. 

The Lacey Travelling Bursaries supports students undertaking cultural and educational visits to France.

The Avantha Chair supports a post in the India Institute.

The Paediatric Research Unit Lectureship supports a post in Medical and Molecular Genetics.

The Dunhill Chair Cutaneous Medicine supports a post in the St John’s Institute of Dermatology.

The R.Dickinson Trust ( General) Fund is used to support the Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Sciences.

The Pulmonary Pharmacology Endowment Fund supports research into pulmonary pharmacology.
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27. Unrestricted reserves
Consolidated University

£000 £000

Balance at 1 August 2024  882,863  884,773 
Surplus after depreciation of assets at cost and tax  37,555  37,503 

Transfer from restricted reserves  (84)  (84)

Balance at 31 July 2025  920,334  922,192 

The reserves are:

Income and expenditure reserve, which is nominally allocated to:
Capital reserve  787,748  789,432 

Departmental reserves  83,491  83,491 
Revenue reserve  49,095  49,269 

General reserves  132,586  132,760 
Total income and expenditure reserve  920,334  922,192 

The capital reserve is equivalent to the amount by which the value of tangible fixed assets in the Balance Sheet exceeds long-term 
creditors. The reserve is set aside to fund depreciation charges on assets that are not being funded by future cash flows.

28. Consolidated reconciliation of net debt
 2024-25 

£000

Net debt 1 August 2024  138,971 
Movement in cash and cash equivalents  12,164 
Movement on accrued interest  62 
Repayment of amounts borrowed  (5,266)
New loans –
Other non-cash changes –
Net debt 31 July 2025  145,931 

Change in net debt  6,960 

Analysis of net debt 31 July 2025
£000

31 July 2024 
£000

Cash and cash equivalents  251,226  263,390 

Borrowings: amounts falling due within one year

Secured loans  5,936  5,266 
Unsecured loans – –

 5,936  5,266 

Borrowings: amounts falling due after more than one year

Secured loans  8,573  14,508 
Unsecured loans  382,648  382,587 

 391,221  397,095 

Net debt  145,931  138,971 
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29. Capital commitments
Consolidated and University

2025
£000

2024 
£000

Commitments contracted at 31 July  11,008  2,200 
Commitments authorised but not contracted at 31 July  294,003  29,781 

 305,011  31,981 

30. Pensions
The three principal pension schemes in which the University participates are the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), the 
Superannuation Arrangements of the University of London (SAUL) and the National Health Service Pension Scheme (NHSPS).

Pensions costs for the University and its subsidiaries

Consolidated University

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24
£000

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24
£000

Contributions to USS  54,179  59,886  54,179  59,886 
Contributions to SAUL  22,384  21,540  22,384  21,540 
Contributions to NHSPS  6,157  5,915  6,157  5,915 
Contributions to other pension schemes  1,728  1,201  903  461 

 84,448  88,542  83,623  87,802 

Contributions for funding of deficit relating to prior service –  (8,677) –  (8,677)
Pension contributions included within capital projects  (42)  (44)  (42)  (44)

Pension contributions included within staff costs  84,406  79,821  83,581  79,081 

Movement on pension provision within staff costs –  (329,866) –  (329,866)

 84,406  (250,045)  83,581  (250,785)

Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)
The institution participates in Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) which is the main scheme covering most academic and 
academic-related staff. The Scheme is a hybrid pension scheme, providing defined benefits (for all members), as well as defined 
contribution benefits. The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund.

USS is a multi-employer scheme and is accounted for as set out in the accounting policies

A deficit recovery plan was put in place as part of the 2020 valuation, which required payment of 6.2% of salaries over the period 1 
April 2022 until 31 March 2024, at which point the rate would increase to 6.3%. No deficit recovery plan was required under the 2023 
valuation because the scheme was in surplus on a technical provisions basis. The institution was no longer required to make deficit 
recovery contributions from 1 January 2024 and accordingly released the outstanding provision to the profit and loss account in the 
prior year. Surpluses or deficits which arise at future valuations may impact on the University’s future contribution commitments. A 
deficit may require additional funding in the form of higher contribution requirements, whereas a surplus could, perhaps, be used to 
similarly reduce contribution requirements. 

The latest available complete actuarial valuation of the Retirement Income Builder is as at 31 March 2023 (the valuation date),  
and was carried out using the projected unit method.

Since the University cannot identify its share of USS Retirement Income Builder (defined benefit) assets and liabilities, the following 
disclosures reflect those relevant for those assets and liabilities as a whole.

The 2023 valuation was the seventh valuation for the scheme under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions 
Act 2004, which requires schemes to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. At the valuation date, 
the value of the assets of the scheme was £73.1 billion and the value of the scheme’s technical provisions was £65.7 billion indicating  
a surplus of £7.4 billion and a funding ratio of 111%.

The key financial assumptions used in the 2023 valuation are described below. More detail is set out in the Statement of Funding 
Principles (uss.co.uk/about-us/valuation-and-funding/statement-of-funding-principles).
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30. Pensions (continued)
Price inflation – Consumer Prices Index (CPI) 	 3.0% p.a. (based on a long-term average expected level of CPI, broadly consistent 

with long-term market expectations)

RPI/CPI gap 	 1.0% p.a. to 2030, reducing to 0.1% p.a. from 2030

Pension Increases (subject to a floor of 0%)	 Benefits with no cap: 
• CPI assumption plus 3bps 
• Benefits subject to a ‘soft cap’ of 5% (providing inflationary increases up to 5%, 
   and half of any excess inflation over 5% up to a maximum of 10%): 
• CPI assumption minus 3bps

Discount rate (forward rates)	 Fixed interest gilt yield curve plus: 
• Pre-retirement: 2.5% p.a. 
• Post-retirement: 0.9% p.a.

The main demographic assumptions used relate to the mortality assumptions. These assumptions are based on analysis of the scheme’s 
experience carried out as part of the 2023 actuarial valuation. The mortality assumptions used in these figures are as follows:

2023 valuation
Mortality base table	 101% of S2PMA ‘light’ for males and 95% of S3PFA for females.

Future improvements to mortality	 CMI 2021 with a smoothing parameter of 7.5, an initial addition of 0.4% p.a., 10% 
w2020 and w2021 parameters, and a long-term improvement rate of 1.8% pa for 
males and 1.6% pa for females.

The current life expectations on retirement at age 65 are:

2025 2024

Males currently aged 65 (years) 23.8 23.7
Females currently aged 65 (years) 25.5 25.4
Males currently aged 45 (years) 25.7 25.6
Females currently aged 45 (years) 27.2 27.2

Superannuation Arrangements of the University of London (SAUL)
The University participates in SAUL, which provides benefits for some non-academic employees. The scheme is a centralised 
defined benefit scheme and was contracted out of the Second State Pension until April 2016. The assets of the scheme are held in a 
separate trustee-administered fund. Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual 
institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The University is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other 
institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and 
reasonable basis. Thus, as required by Section 28 of FRS102, ‘Employee benefits’, it accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account represents 
the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting period.

The latest available triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was as at 31 March 2023; it was carried out by a professionally qualified 
and independent actuary using the projected unit method. Informal reviews of the scheme’s position, reflecting changes in market 
conditions, cash flow information and new accrual of benefits, are carried out between formal valuations.

The 2023 valuation was the sixth valuation for SAUL under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions Act 2004, 
which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical 
provisions. At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £3,096 billion and the value of the scheme’s technical 
provisions was £2,962 billion, indicating a surplus of £134 billion. The assets were therefore sufficient to cover 105% of the benefits that 
had accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in earnings.

The Trustee and the Employers agreed that employer contributions would decrease from 21% of Salaries to 19% of Salaries from 1 
September 2024. Member contributions to the defined benefit section would remain unchanged at 6% of Salaries.

The members’ benefits are as follows:

•	 All members accrue benefits on a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) basis, at an accrual rate of 1/75th of CARE salary.

•	 For pensions accrued after 1 April 2016, increases in payment will be in line with CPI, capped at 2.5% p.a. (the annual cap on CPI 
pension increases in payment increased from 2.5% to 5% for future accrual from 1 April 2025).

National Health Service Pension Scheme (NHSPS)
The University also participates in the NHSPS, which is available to staff who were members of that scheme immediately prior  
to appointment at the University. This is a statutory, unfunded, multi-employer, defined benefit scheme in which the University  
is unable to identify its share of the underlying liabilities and assets, and it is therefore accounted for on a contribution basis.
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Notes to the accounts For the year ended 31 July 2025

30. Pensions (continued)
From April 2024 University contributions to the scheme were 23.7% of salary, but of these 7% are covered by the Department  
of Health and Social Care and are not a cost to the University.

31. Related party transactions
The University maintains a register of the interests of the members of Council and of its standing committees, which is published  
on its website: kcl.ac.uk/about/governance-policies-and-procedures/college-council/members

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of its Council and committees, it is possible that there will be 
transactions from time to time between the University and organisations with which members of Council and its committees have 
relationships. If such transactions do occur, they are conducted on an arm’s-length basis and in compliance with the University’s 
Financial Regulations and procurement policies.

These financial statements reflect the following transactions with related parties which were undertaken on an arms length basis and 
under normal commercial terms.

Name Location Nature of interest

Consolidated and University 
 2024-25

Consolidated and University 
 2023-24

Income/
(Expense) 

£000

 Amount due 
from/(to)

£000

Income/
(Expense) 

£000

 Amount due 
from/(to)

£000

African Leadership Centre 
Trust

Nairobi A Senior Officer of the 
University was Chair 

 (832.7) –  (77.0)  (17.4)

Cancer Research UK London The Chair of Council  
was Chair 

 1,144.6  36.6 – –

Crown Commercial Service Member of the Council  
was a Non Executive Director 

 (1.7) – – –

Employers' Network for 
Equality and Inclusion

London Member of the Council  
was a Trustee 

 (26.4) –  (79.5) –

Guy's and St Thomas' 
Foundation 

London Member of the Council  
was a Trustee 

2,116.7 / 
(2,861.5)

124.1 5,714.4 / 
(2,727.2)

 1,892.1 

MedCity Ltd London A Senior Officer of the 
University and Member  
of Council was a Director 

– – 23.00 –

Russell Group London A Senior Officer of the 
University and Member of the 
Council was a Board Member 

(95.5) – (92.5) –

Somerset House Trust London Member of the Council  
was a Trustee 

– – 26.5 / 
(2,094.4)

–

UK Biobank Ltd A Senior Officer of the 
University and Member of  
the Council was a Director 

– – (72.0) –

UK Biocentre A Senior Officer of the 
University and Member of  
the Council was a Director 

 (16.3) – – –

University of London London A Senior Officer of the 
University and Member of  
the Council was a Trustee 

 1,331.9 / 
(1,280.3) 

 309.4 /
(29.1) 

 299.6 / 
(362.6) 

 (11.8)

The Superannuation 
Arrangements of the University 
of London (SAUL)1

London A Senior Officer of the 
University and Member of  
the Council was a Director 

King’s College London 
Students' Union (KCLSU)2

London Member of the Council  
was President of the Union 

1.	Refer to note 30 for details of annual contributions to the Superannuation Arrangements of the University of London (SAUL).

2.	King’s College London Students’ Union (Union) is an independent charity registered with the Charity Commission, of which the 
President is also a member of Council. In 2024-25 the University made an annual block grant payment of £5,100k to the Union 
(2023-24 £4,920k). The University also provides the union with building space with a notional rental income value of £3,740k for 
which no cash is exchanged and the University recognises as both rental income and notional grant expenditure (2023-24 £3,140k).
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31. Related party transactions (continued)
The University enjoys a close working relationship with Guy’s & St Thomas’, King’s College Hospital and South London & 
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trusts under the name of King’s Health Partners – an unincorporated associated that aims to combine the 
best of basic and translational research, clinical excellence and world-class teaching to deliver ground-breaking advances in physical 
and mental healthcare – which is accredited as an Academic Health Science Centre. The nature of the relationship with these NHS 
Trusts makes it difficult to quantify the value shown in the accounts each year. Senior staff of the University and members of Council 
may also hold senior positions in these organisations.

In addition the University has a close working relationship with both the King’s Maths School and The Francis Crick Institute. King’s 
was a founding member and shareholder in the Crick which is dedicated to understanding the fundamental biology underlying health 
and disease.

As a consequence there are recharges between these institutions, as disclosed in these accounts, and senior staff of the University may 
also hold senior positions in these organisations.

The University has paid Francis Crick Institute £1,992k during the year as agreed contributions to overheads and reimbursement of 
other costs (£2,758k), and received £1,231k for seconded staff and research funding (2023-24 £424k). The University recognises an 
investment balance related to it’s initial £40m investment in the Institute.

King’s Maths School was established as a Free school in partnership with King’s College London to provide high quality maths 
education in the heart of London with the University maintaining a presence on the board of governors. During the year, the 
University has made no payment to the School for widening participation (2023-24 £101.8k) and received £189.8k for rent, premises 
recharges and IT services (2023-24 £261.5k).

TEDI London was a joint venture until King’s College London ceased to be a shareholder of the company on 4 June 2025. During  
the period 1 August 2024 to 4 June 2025, the University paid £675k as partner funding (2023-24 £1,213k).

The University has taken advantage of the exemptions under section 33 of FRS 102 for ‘100%’ or ‘wholly’ owned subsidiaries not  
to disclose intra-group transactions.

32. Training salaries
Consolidated and University

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24
£000

Balance underspent at 1 August  116  103 

Funding Council and Department for Education grants  3,667  3,868 
Disbursed to students  (3,705)  (3,855)

Balance underspent at 31 July  78  116 

Funding Council and Department for Education grants are available solely for students. The University acts only as paying agent. The 
grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded from the Consolidated and University Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Account.
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33. Financial instruments
Consolidated University

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24
£000

 2024-25
£000

 2023-24
£000

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income

Listed investments  313,098  290,511  313,098  290,511 
Financial assets that are equity instruments measured at cost less impairment

Other investments  1,610  1,578  1,610  1,578 
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents (including term deposits and cash held within 
endowment assets)

 278,977  297,726  276,440  296,219 

Trade and other debtors  187,877  190,057  188,947  189,796 
Other investments  70,000  60,000  70,000  60,000 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income

Derivative  1,117  7,118  1,117  7,118 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Loans  397,157  402,361  397,157  402,361 
Trade creditors  22,354  17,316  22,327  17,287 
Other creditors  402,047  406,095  400,433  404,327 

The University does not hedge account except for an interest rate derivative to hedge interest rate exposure on a loan. 

The fair values of the liability held at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income at the balance sheet date are determined 
using mid-market prices. 

The interest rate derivative expires in line with the loan agreement on 16 May 2048.

34. Lease obligations
Total rentals payable under operating leases:

Consolidated and University

 Land and 
buildings

£000 

 Other  
leases

£000

 2025 
Total
£000

 2024 
Total
£000

Payable during the year ended 31 July  76,374  20  76,394  79,742 

Future minimum lease payments due:

Not later than one year  63,921  22  63,943  76,488 
Later than one year and not later than five years  180,694  87  180,781  215,769 
Later than five years  379,659  10  379,669  409,398 
Total lease payments due  624,274  119  624,393  701,655 
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35. US Department of Education required disclosure

The following table is provided solely in satisfaction of the University’s obligations to facilitate access to US federal financial aid as 
required by the US Department of Education, and has been prepared and presented in-line with their specific requirements. All figures 
presented are based upon FRS 102 recognition and measurement principles, in line with the statement of accounting policies, and are 
presented in GBP. It is not advised that it be used for any other purpose and all values within it can be found elsewhere within these 
financial statements.

The schedules set out how each amount disclosed has been extracted from the financial statements. As set out above, the accounting 
policies used in determining the amounts disclosed are not intended to and do not comply with the requirements of accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Primary Reserve Ratio Consolidated Consolidated

£000
 2024-25

£000 £000
 2023-24

£000

Expendable Net Assets Expendable Net Assets

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted 920,334  882,863 
Balance Sheet – Revaluation reserve  443,227  435,924 
Balance Sheet – Cash flow hedge reserve  (1,117)  (7,118)

 1,362,444  1,311,669 

Net assets with donor restrictions

Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve  340,849  324,847 
Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve  36,445  32,502 

 377,294  357,349 

Secured and unsecured related party receivable

Note 31 related party transactions
Unsecured  124  1,892 

Unsecured related party receivable  124  1,892 

Property plant and equipment net (includes Construction in progress)

Minus lease right of use asset – –
Balance Sheet – Tangible Assets  1,637,658  1,584,999 

 1,637,658  1,584,999 

Property, plant and equipment – pre-implementation  1,537,617  1,516,619 
Property, plant and equipment – post implementation with outstanding debt for original purchase – –
Property, plant and equipment – post implementation without outstanding debt for original purchase – –
Construction in progress – Note 15 Assets in the course of construction  100,041  68,380 

Lease right of use asset

Asset equal in value to lease rigth of use liability – –

Lease right of use asset pre-implementation – –
Lease right of use asset post-implementation – –

Intangible assets

Balance sheet – Intangible assets  34,164  37,782 

Post-employment and pension liabilities

Balance sheet – Pension Provision – –
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Primary Reserve Ratio (continued) Consolidated Consolidated

£000
 2024-25

£000 £000
 2023-24

£000

Expendable Net Assets Expendable Net Assets

Long-term debt for long term purposes

Note 22 Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year – Loans  391,221  397,095 
Note 21 Creditors: Amounts Falling due within one year – Current element of 
long-term liabilities

 5,936  5,266 

 397,157  402,361 

Long-term debt for long term purposes – pre-implementation  397,157  402,361 
Long-term debt for long term purposes – post-implementation – –
Line of credit for Construction in process – –

Lease right-of-use asset liability

Note 22 Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year – Obligations 
under finance leases less term deposits for repayment less term deposits for 
repayment

– –

Note 21 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year – Obligations under 
finance leases minus term deposit

– –

– –

Pre-implementation right of use leases – –
Post-implementation right of use leases – –

Annuities with donor restrictions – –

Term endowments with donor restrictions

Note 26 Endowment Reserves – Restricted Expendable  40,129  38,154 

Life income funds with donor restrictions

Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve  36,445  32,502 

Net assets with donor restrictions: restricted in perpetutity

Note 26 Endowment Reserves – Restricted Permanent  300,720  286,693 
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35. US Department of Education required disclosure (continued)

Primary Reserve Ratio (continued) Consolidated Consolidated

£000
 2024-25

£000 £000
 2023-24

£000

Total Expenses and Losses Total Expenses and Losses

Total expenses without donor restrictions 

Education and research expenses;
•	I&E – Staff costs (minus residences, catering and conferencing staff costs as 

per note 12)
 788,724  729,024 

•	I&E – Other operating expenditure  451,469  448,971 
•	Minus residences, catering and conferencing operating costs – note 12  (76,882)  (69,564)
•	Minus endowment spend – Note 26 Endowment reserves – Expenditure  (6,940)  (7,040)
•	Minus restricted spend – Note 25 Restricted reserves – Expenditure  (18,835)  (18,320)

Depreciation and amortization – I&E Depciation  69,746  60,587 
Interest expense – I&E Interest and other finance costs  14,942  23,006 
Auxiliary enterprises;
I&E – Taxation  (111)  10 
Note 12 – Residences catering and conference Staff and operating costs  88,819  80,808 

 1,310,932  1,247,482 

Non-Operating and Net Investment (loss)

Investment return appropriated for spending – –
Other gains(losses) – I&E – Gain/(loss) on other investments  32  1,313 
Investments, net of annual spending, gain(loss) – I&E Gain/(loss) on property 
investment

 (297)  (711)

Other components of net periodic pension costs – –
Pension-related changes other than net periodic pension costs – I&E Staff costs – 
movement on USS pension provision

–  329,866 

Change in value of split-interest agreements  6,001  (7,118)
Other gains (losses) – I&E – Unrealised surplus on revaluation of tangible assets  7,303  2,329 
Sales of fixed assets, gains (losses) – I&E – Gain on disposal of fixed assets – –

 13,039  325,679 

Net investment losses

Investment return appropriated for spending – –
Other gains(losses) – I&E – Gain/(loss) on other investments  32  1,313 
Investments, net of annual spending, gain(loss) – I&E Gain/(loss) on property 
investment

 (297)  (711)

 (265)  602 

Pension-related changes other than net periodic costs

I&E Staff costs – movement on USS pension provision –  329,866 
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35. US Department of Education required disclosure (continued)

Equity Ratio Consolidated Consolidated

£000
 2024-25

£000 £000
 2023-24

£000

Modified Net Assets Modified Net Assets

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted  920,334  882,863 

Balance Sheet – Revaluation reserve  443,227  435,924 
Balance Sheet - Cash flow hedge reserve  (1,117)  (7,118)

 1,362,444  1,311,669 

Net assets with donor restrictions

Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve  340,849  324,847 
Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve  36,445  32,502 

 377,294  357,349 

Intangible assets

Balance sheet – Intangible assets  34,164 37,782

Secured and unsecured related party receivable

Note 31 related party transactions

Unsecured 124  1,892 

Unsecured related party receivable 124  1,892 

Modified Assets Modified Assets

Total assets

Balance sheet – Non-current assets 2,072,605  2,008,626 
Balance sheet – Current Assets  509,103  513,447 

2,581,708  2,522,073 

Lease right-of-use asset

Note 22 Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year –  
Obligations under finance leases less term deposits for repayment less term 
deposits for repayment

– –

Note 21 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year –  
Obligations under finance leases minus term deposit

– –

Pre-implementation right of use leases – –
Post-implementation right of use leases – –

Intangible assets

Balance sheet – Intangible assets  34,164  37,782 

Secured and unsecured related party receivable

Note 31 related party transactions
Unsecured 124  1,892 

Unsecured related party receivable 124  1,892 
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35. US Department of Education required disclosure (continued)

Net Income Ratio Consolidated Consolidated

£000
 2024-25

£000 £000
 2023-24

£000

Changes in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

I&E – Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year  37,555  316,794 
I&E – Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year  7,303  2,329 
I&E - Cash flow hedge reserve comprehensive income for the year  6,001  (7,118)

 50,859  312,005 

Total Revenue and Gains

Tuition and fees, net – I&E Tuition Fee and education contracts  711,739  630,497 
Contributions;
Grants and contracts – including research;
•	I&E – Funding Body Grants  156,745  144,921 
•	I&E – Research grants and contracts  260,466  256,883 

Private gifts and grants;
•	I&E – Donations and Endowments  17,069  23,704 
•	Investment return appropriated for spending; – –
•	Minus new endowments (Note 7)  (1,909)  (1,773)
•	Minus restricted income (Note 25)  (22,694)  (30,613)

Other revenues – I&E Other Income (minus auxiliary enterprises income)  124,095  112,359 
Investment income – Note 6 Investment Income – Other interest receivable and 
other investment income

 18,958  23,327 

Auxiliairy enterprises – Note 4 Other Income – Residences, catering and 
conferencing

 84,283  74,503 

Net assets released from restrictions – –
 1,348,752  1,233,808 
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